University of Cincinnati			
Date: 1/9/2023			
I. McKenzie Crist, hereby submit this original work as part of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Pathobiology & Molecular Medicine.			
It is entitled: Understanding metformin mediated natural killer cell activation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma			
Student's name: McKenzie Crist			
	This work and its defense approved by:		
	Committee chair: Trisha Wise-Draper, M.D., Ph.D.		
	Committee member: Michael Borchers, Ph.D.		
Cincinnati	Committee member: Scott Langevin, Ph.D.		
	Committee member: Vinita Takiar		
	Committee member: Stephen Waggoner, Ph.D.		
	44260		

Understanding metformin-mediated natural killer cell activation in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma

A dissertation submitted to the

Division of Research and Advance Studies of the University of Cincinnati

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

DOCTOR of PHILOSOPHY

In the Pathobiology and Molecular Medicine Program of the College of Medicine

2023

by

McKenzie C Crist B.S., Miami University, 2018

Committee Chair: Trisha M Wise-Draper, MD, Ph.D.

Abstract

Head and neck cancer (HNC) is the 6th most common cancer worldwide, the majority of which are head and neck squamous cell carcinomas (HNSCC). Recurrent or metastatic HNSCC are often treated with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), which have dramatically increased survival, but unfortunately, only 20% respond to treatment necessitating improved therapies. The diabetes drug, metformin, was shown previously to have both anti-cancer and immune stimulating (primarily T cells) activity. In a phase I clinical trial (NCT02325401), metformin was administered to HNSCC patients prior to standard of care treatment. Metformin specifically increased NK cell numbers as well as activation more robustly than T cells in HNSCC patients. Therefore, we studied the direct effects of metformin on NK cells. Pre- and post-metformintreated tumor tissue from a clinical trial (NCT02083692), was analyzed by immunofluorescence. Post-metformin tissue exhibited an increase in infiltrating NK cells. Ex vivo metformin treatment of HNSCC NK cells resulted in increased perforin production correlating with higher cytotoxicity of tumor cells. To determine pathways in which metformin may be regulating in order to promote cytotoxicity in NK cells, we utilized bulk RNA-sequencing (RNA-seq) on ex vivo pre- and postmetformin treated HNSCC patient NK cells. The chemokine, CXCL1, expression was significantly reduced with metformin treatment. Exogenous CXCL1 prevented metforminmediated NK cell perforin release, but this could be reversed by an inhibitor of the CXCL1 receptor, CXCR2. We next investigated the mechanism in which metformin mediated CXCL1 inhibition may be preventing perforin release and subsequent cytotoxicity. Given metformin is known to inhibit mTOR and pSTAT3, we investigated the roles of these pathways in perforin release. Perforin was decreased by pSTAT1 inhibition and increased by mTOR inhibition suggesting that both pathways may be important. In order to understand if the CXCR2/CXCL1 pathway regulated the STAT pathways, NK cells were treated ex vivo with metformin, CXCL1, and a CXCR2 inhibitor and phosphorylation of STATs was determined by western blot analyses. Metformin resulted in increased pSTAT1 and decreased pSTAT3 as expected. However,

i

CXCL1 reversed the effect of metformin mediated pSTAT3 inhibition which was then rescued by a CXCR2 inhibitor. We gathered supporting evidence that metformin directly increases NK cell infiltration, and perforin production by inhibiting CXCL1 likely through reduction of pSTAT3 and subsequent inhibition of CXCL1. Importantly, CXCR2 inhibition could reverse CXCL1 mediated inhibition of perforin release. In the future, CXCR2 inhibition in NK cells could be further explored to determine if knockdown of CXCR2 in NK cells could result in increased NK cell function and anti-tumor activity. Finally, we have identified a novel pathway by which metformin increases NK cell cytotoxicity, which could be utilized in the treatment of HNSCC in future studies.

Copyright Notice

Chapters 2 and 3 of this dissertation include adaptations of manuscript published in the open access journal, Journal of ImmunoTherapy of Cancer. The addendum of this dissertation is an adaptation of a manuscript in review at the time of writing. Published works are distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited. The citation for each article can be found on the title page of the corresponding chapter.

Acknowledgements

Many thanks to:

The Pathobiology and Molecular Medicine Program and all the support the faculty, directors, and program manager gave me. I also want to thank the students, who were always kind and willing to share resources. Special thanks to Kate Stone, who was my first friend in the program and the city who always gave me unending support.

The Takiar/Wise-Draper lab members and all those who passed through it my time. My lab mates were always there to troubleshoot with and became lifelong friends. Special thanks to current members Julianna Korns and Maria Lehn, who have been so great and encouraging. I would also like to thank former member Sarah Palackdharry, who gave me the foundations I needed right from the start.

My committee members, Drs Wise-Draper, Takiar, Waggoner, Langevin, and Borchers. They always pushed me at every meeting to think outside the box. They gave me the criticism I needed to complete this project, and have it become something of which I am truly proud. I aspire to become as fantastic and honest a scientist as all these members.

To my family. My extended family, who were always interested in what I was doing and encouraging me to keep it up. My parents, Chuck, Becky, and Dawn, who instilled in me from an early age to always pursue my passions and work hard. They are the greatest source of my ambitions. To my sisters, Romie and Kaitlyn, who always joked I was the smart one and let me vent about graduate school to them. The Stanleys, who have watched me grow, encouraged me, and welcomed me into their family since I was eighteen. Finally, to my husband, DJ, for putting up with my late nights, stress, presentation practice, driving me to work for over a year, and always encouraging me to be the best I could be.

iv

Table of Contents

Abstract	i-ii
Copyright notice	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	v-viii
List of Figures and Tables	ix-xi
Chapter I: Introduction	1-16
Section 1.1 – Head and Neck Cancer	2-4
Section 1.1.2 Diagnosis of Head and Neck Cancer	3
Section 1.1.2 Head and Neck Standard of Care	4
Section 1.2 - Immunotherapy in Head and Neck Cancer	4-7
Section 1.2.1 PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors	5
Section 1.2.2 Current Combination Therapies	6-7
Section 1.3 - Natural Killer Cells	7-12
Section 1.3.1 Natural Killer Cell Functions	7-8
Section 1.3.2 Natural Killer Cell Receptors	9
Section 1.3.3 Natural Killer Cells in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carci	inoma9-10
Section 1.3.4 Role of STATs in Natural Killer Cell Function	10-11
Section 1.3.5 Why focus on Natural Killer Cells?	12
Section 1.4 – Metformin	12-16
Section 1.5.1 Metformin in Cancer	12-13
Section 1.4.2 Metformin in Immuno-Oncology	14-15
Section 1.4.3 Metformin and Discovery of Novel Therapeutics	16
Section 1.5 – How This Thesis Contributes to Head and Neck Squamous Cell Ca	arcinoma
Outcomes	16
Chapter II: Metformin Activation of Natural Killer Cells	17-53
Section 2.1 – Background	18
Section 2.2 - Materials and Methods	19-26
Section 2.2.1 Human Samples	

Section 2.2.2 Cell lines	20
Section 2.2.3 Flow Cytometry for Peripheral Immune Cell Characterization	20-21
Section 2.2.4 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	21
Section 2.2.5 Single-Cell Multiplex Cytokine Profiling	21-22
Section 2.2.6 Tissue Staining	22
Section 2.2.7 Natural Killer Cytotoxicity Assay (NKCA)	22-23
Section 2.2.8 RNA-Sequencing (RNA-seq)	23
Section 2.2.9 Western Blot	24
Section 2.2.10 qPCR and PCR	24-25
Section 2.2.11 Lentivirus Infection of Tumor Cells	25
Section 2.2.12 Statistics	25-26
Section 2.3 – Results and Discussion	27-51
Section 2.3.1 Metformin Increases Natural Killer Cells in Patients	27-37
Section 2.3.2 Indirect Activation of Natural Killer Cells	
Section 2.3.3 Direct Activation of Natural Killer Cells	45-51
Section 2.4 – Summary	52-53
Chapter III: Mechanism of CXCL1 and Metformin in Natural Killer Cells	54-73
Section 3.1 – Background	54-56
Section 3.2 – Materials and Methods	57-59
Section 3.2.1 – Human Samples	57
Section 3.2.2 – Cell Lines	58
Section 3.2.3 – Western Blot	58
Section 3.2.4 – Drugs	59
Section 3.2.5 ELISAs	59
Section 3.2.6 Statistics	59-60
Section 3.3 – Results and Discussion	61-71
Section 3.4 – Summary	72-73
Chapter IV: Discussion and Future Directions	74
Section 4.1 – Summary	75-77

Section 4.2 – Strengths and Weaknesses	78
Section 4.3 – Future Studies and Directions	79-84
Section 4.3.1 CXCR2 Inhibitors and Immunotherapy	79-80
Section 4.3.2 Basic science directions	81
Section 4.3.3 Clinical directions	82-83
Section 4.3 – Conclusions	84
Bibliography	85-99
Addendum – COVID-19 and Immunotherapy in Cancer	100-109
Section A.1 – Reasoning for This Addendum	101
Section A.2 – Background	101-103
Section A.3 – Methods	
Section A.3.1 Human Samples	104
Section A.3.2 Peripheral Blood mononuclear (PBMC) isolation an	nd storage105
Section A.3.3 Flow Cytometry for Cell Markers	105
Section A.3.4 ELISAs	106
Section A.3.5 Bulk Cytokine Analysis	106
Section A.3.5 Spike Protein Samples	106-107
Section A.3.7 Western blot	
Section A.3.8 Immunotherapy Treatment	107
Section A.3.9 Ethics statement	107-108
Section A.3.10 Statistical Analysis	108
Section A.4 – Results and Discussion	109-117
Section A.4.1 Cancer patients with COVID-19 Disease Produce I	nflammatory
Cytokines Associated with Cytokine Storm	109-110
Section A.4.2 Pembrolizumab Enhances Spike protein Mediated	Cytokine
Release from Head and Neck Cancer but not Healthy Patient PB	MCs <i>ex</i>
vivo	

Section A.4.3 NFkB Phosphorylation is Enhanced in the Presence of Spike
Protein and Pembrolizumab in Head and Neck Cancer PBMCs112-113
Section A.4.4 Patients with Cancer and COVID-19 Have Increased Cytokine
Producing Natural Killer Cells which are not Changed by Pembrolizumab
Treatment113-117
Section A.5 – Summary117-118
Section A.6 – References119-122
Appendix

List of Figures and Tables

<u>Figures</u>

Chapter 1

Figure 1.1: Head and Neck Cancer sites
Figure 1.2: Metformin regulation of tumor cells13
Chapter 2
Figure 2.1. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients have lower natural killer cell counts
Figure 2.2: Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients have lower proportions of all natural killer cell types
Figure 2.3: Head and neck squamous carcinoma patient-derived natural killer cells have lower IFN-γ activation
Figure 2.4: Schema of blood draws from clinical trial "Dose-finding study of metformin with chemoradiation in locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma" (NCT02325401)
Figure 2.5: Metformin does not change overall blood cell numbers
Figure 2.6: Metformin does not change overall numbers of T cells
Figure 2.7: Metformin shifts memory T cell phenotypes
Figure 2.8: Metformin increases natural killer cell populations
Figure 2.9: Metformin increases activation marker NKG2D
Figure 2.10: Metformin increases expression of NKp46 and CD3 protein expression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma tissue
Figure 2.11: Metformin increases natural killer cell infiltration in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma tissue
Figure 2.12: Metformin treated tumor cells are more susceptible to natural killer cell killing38
Figure 2.13: Metformin treated tumor cells are as susceptible to head and neck squamous cell carcinoma natural killer cell killing a healthy donor NK cells
Figure 2.14: Metformin reduces pSTAT3 related cytokine expression in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma cell lines40
Figure 2.15: Metformin reduces pSTAT3 in tumor cells41
Figure 2.16: Lentivirus infection knocks down pSTAT343

Figure 2.17: Metformin increases perforin	44
Figure 2.18: Metformin reduces pSTAT3 responding cytokines	45
Figure 2.19: Metformin increases cytotoxicity of peripheral natural killer cells against Cal27 cells	46
Figure 2.20: Metformin increases cytotoxicity of peripheral natural killer cells against UMSCC4 cells	.7 47
Figure 2.21: Metformin does not change healthy donor natural killer cell activity	48
Figure 2.22: Metformin suppresses CXCL1 RNA expression of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma natural killer cells	49
Figure 2.23: Metformin suppresses CXCL1 protein expression of head and neck squamous ce carcinoma natural killer cells	베 50
Chapter 3	
Figure 3.1: Pathways activated by CXCR2 binding of CXCL1	55
Figure 3.2: Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma natural killer cells secrete more CXCL16	60
Figure 3.3: Exogenous CXCL1 reverses metformin activation6	31
Figure 3.4: Metformin increases pSTAT1 and decrease pSTAT3, CXCL1 increases pSTAT36	32
Figure 3.5: Proposed mechanism of action for metformin	63
Figure 3.6: Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma natural killer cells do not require AMPK for metformin induced perforin production	or 64
Figure 3.7: mTOR enhances perforin production6	35
Figure 3.8: pSTAT1 is involved in metformin induced perforin production	66
Figure 3.9: pSTAT3 is necessary for CXCL1 to overcome metformin induced perforin production	37
Figure 3.10: Metformin reduces CXCL1 through mTOR and pSTAT36	38
Figure 3.11: CXCL1 is decreased in metformin treated patients	66
Figure 3.12: CXCL1 is increased with Pembrolizumab	70
Addendum	
Figure A.1: Cytokine storm, COVID-19 disease, and immunotherapy10)1

Figure A.2: Bulk analysis of plasma inflammatory cytokines	109
Figure A.3: Spike protein and pembrolizumab effect on inflammatory cytokines	110

Figure A.4: Evaluation of NFkB levels upon treatment with spike protein and pembrolizumab	12
Figure A.5: Distribution of peripheral immune cell populations	13
Figure A.6: PBMC cytokine production upon pembrolizumab treatment1	14
Figure A.7: Cytokine secretion within cancer patients with COVID-19 disease1	15
Appendix	
Appendix Figure 1: Vector map for pSTAT3 knockout1	23
Appendix Figure 2: Inhibitor confirmation western blot	25
Appendix Figure 3: Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma mouse model has elevated CXCL11	26
Appendix Figure 4: CXCR2 knockdown confirmation blot1	26
Appendix Figure 5: CXCR2 knockdown natural killer cells have higher activity1	27

<u>Tables</u>

Chapter 1

Table 1.1: Non-exhaustive list of combinational therapies with pembrolizumab in head and r squamous cell carcinoma	1eck 6-7
Table 1.2 STAT receptors and downstream effects	11
Appendix	
Appendix Table 1: Demographics for clinical trial NCT02325401	122
Appendix Table 2: Demographic information for clinical trial NCT02083692	122
Appendix Table 3: List of non-adjusted p-value genes from RNA-seq	124

Chapter I: Introduction

Section 1.1 - Head and Neck Cancer

In 2023 an estimated 609,000 people died from cancer in the U.S. and 1.1 million were newly diagnosed, costing the United States roughly \$150 billion.¹ The immense loss of life, reduction in quality of life for survivors, and financial cost have led to cancer as one of the most studied diseases in the world. Despite all the resources allocated to cancer research and drug development, outcomes have only improved by about 1.5% per year.²

Worldwide, approximately 900,000 people are diagnosed with head and neck cancer (HNC) each year, and nearly half will die from the disease.^{3,4,5} The annual number of cases of HNC are expected to rise 30% by 2030.⁶ HNC includes cancers of the oral cavity, salivary gland, pharynx, and larynx and is currently more prevalent in men than women (3:1 diagnosis, respectively) (Figure 1).^{4–10} This thesis will focus primarily head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC), which makes up about 90% of head and neck cancers. There are currently no reliable screening strategies for HNSCC, but risk factors include smoking or tobacco use, excessive alcohol consumption, and human papilloma virus (HPV) infection.^{4–13} Infection can occur from open mouth kissing or oral sexual contact.¹⁴ HPV can integrate into the genome of a cell and result in genomic instability, increasing the chances that tumor enhancing and suppressing genes can be altered^{14–20} HPV-related HNSCC can appear in younger patients, with an average diagnosis age of 50 years compared to average age of 66 in HPV-cancers.^{14–16} HPV+ cancers also tend to have better prognoses, with a 53% reduction in mortality as compared to HPV- in similar sites and stages.⁷

Despite intensive multimodal care, up to 50% of patients will relapse after entering remission and those who survive report lower quality of life, including inability to effectively swallow and speak, increased anxiety, and depression.^{3,10,13,21–23}



Figure 1.1: Head and neck cancer sites. Figure created with Biorender.

Section 1.1.1 Diagnosis of Head and Neck Cancer

At diagnosis, the site of primary tumor presentation and relevant risk factors are first taken into consideration.^{3,24,25} Oral cavity tumors, often originating from the mobile tongue and hard palate, usually present as non-healing ulcers or lesions, and are often caught early.^{3,24,25} These tumors can also be identified early with disclosed risk factors of tobacco use, alcohol consumption, or poor oral hygiene.^{3,24} Oropharyngeal tumors originate from the base of the tongue and tonsils, with the first presentation including difficulty swallowing or eating.^{3,24,25} Laryngeal cancers will present as difficulty speaking or hoarseness, with progression to difficulty breathing if not caught early.³ Biopsies are taken in the office and stained by hematoxylin-eosin stain, which can then be analyzed for invasive front and tumor budding qualities that are signs of tumor tissue versus normal tissue.^{24,25}

Section 1.1.2 Head and Neck Cancer Standard of Care Therapies

Standard of care treatment is dependent location of tumor, stage, and whether the tumor has metastasized.³ The first line of treatment includes surgery, radiation, and/or chemotherapy.^{26–30} Oncologists take into consideration how to preserve the best quality of life for the patients. Patients with small, primary tumors can often achieve remission with resection or radiation, depending on the size and accessibility of the tumor.^{3,18} For patients with more advanced tumors, combination therapy of radiation and chemotherapy reduces risk of recurrence.^{3,26–30} Utilizing all three therapies (surgery followed by radiation and chemotherapy) is avoided as often as possible as it can increase the toxicity and subsequent morbidity.^{3,26} Cancers that have metastasized into multiple nodes or are recurrent may need additional systemic treatment. Immunotherapy has also demonstrated benefit in recurrent/metastatic HNSCC patients. ^{31,32}

Section 1.2 - Immunotherapy in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma

The introduction of immunotherapy over the past 3 decades has increased options for patients and allowed for novel drug combinations.² Immunotherapy activates a cancer patient's immune system, allowing immune cells to better target cancer cells.^{33,34} Antibody based immunotherapies target markers on immune cells or the tumor cell surface that interact with immune cells to alter signaling and increase cancer cell targeting.^{33–35} Immunotherapies approved for HNSCC include immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), which block immune cell regulations that hinder cancer response.³³ This thesis focuses on the two approved immunotherapies in HNSCC: PD-1 inhibitors pembrolizumab and nivolumab.

Section 1.2.1 PD-1 and PD-L1 Inhibitors

The most common immunotherapies in solid tumors are PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors.³³⁻³⁵ PD-1 is a surface marker on T cells and NK cells that can deactivate cytotoxic signaling when it encounters its ligand, PD-L1.³⁶ Normally PD-L1 acts as a checkpoint, keeping immune cells from attacking self-cells.³⁶ However, tumor cells can take advantage of PD-L1 and often upregulate it to evade the immune system.³³⁻³⁷ PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors can block the activation of PD-1, which allows immune cells to exert toxicity against PD-L1 expressing cells.³⁶ PD-1 inhibitors pembrolizumab and nivolumab are approved for use in recurrent and metastatic HNSCC.³⁷ Tumors expressing 1% or more PD-L1 on the tumor surface are eligible for pembrolizumab, and about 50-60% of patients qualify.³⁷ However, only about 18% of patients see a true response of 20% reduction in tumor volume.³³ There is gap between those who are expected to respond to immunotherapies and those who fail to respond. To fill this gap, investigators have mainly targeted T cells.³⁸⁻⁴⁰ T cells target cancer cells after antigen exposure and have direct cytotoxicity to tumor cells. This makes T cells an ideal target to activate for potential increased response.

Section 1.2.2 Current Combination Therapies

To increase response rates to pembrolizumab, several combination studies have been launched to increase T cell activation. Below is a tabular review of combinations currently or formerly in clinical trials within HNSCC.

Table 1.1: Non-exhaustive list of combinational therapies with pembrolizumab in head and neck
squamous cell carcinoma

Drug Name	Clinical Trial	Drug type	Results
	Identifier Number		
Duvelisib ⁴¹	NCT04193293	PI3K inhibitor	Suspended
Epacadostat ⁴²	NCT02752074	2,3-dioxygenase enzyme	Recruiting Phase III
Abemaciclib ⁴³	NCT03938337	CDK4/CDK6 inhibitor	Terminated for
			increased incidence
			of pulmonary toxicity
Evorpaept44	NCT04675294	CD47 inhibitor	Recruiting Phase II
Alisertib ⁴⁵	NCT04555837	Aurora A Kinase inhibitor	Still enrolling
Enolituzumab46	NCT02475213	anti-B7-H3 antibody	No more beneficial
			than pembrolizumab
			and chemotherapy
SD-10147	NCT02521870	Toll-like receptor 9	Increased immune
		stimulator	trafficking
PDS010148	NCT04260126	HPV antigen mix	41% response rate
NC410 ⁴⁹	NCT05572684	Leukocyte-	Still enrolling
		associated	
		immunoglobulin like	
		receptor-2 antibody	
INBRX-106 ⁵⁰	NCT04198766	OX40 agonist	40% response rate
		antibody	(low n, still enrolling)
Itacitinib ⁵¹	NCT02646748	PI3K inhibitor	25% response
CDX-1140 ⁵²	NCT03329950	CD40 antibody	21% response
INCB001158 ⁵³	NCT02903914	Arginase inhibitor	28% response rate
Tabelecleucel ⁵⁴	NCT03769467	Allogenic Epstein Bar	Failed safety
		associated T cells	
Ilixandencel ⁵⁵	NCT03735290	Allogenic DCs with	Failed safety
		PAMP recognition	
GSK3359609 ⁵⁶	NCT04428333	ICOS antibody	Failed safety
PLZ339757	NCT02452424	CSF-1R inhibitor	Terminated for
			insufficient clinical
			efficacy

LY3435151 ⁵⁸	NCT04099277	TIGIT antibody Halted development		
Carvotolimod ⁵⁹	NCT03684785	TLR9 agonist	Terminated	
Clopidogrel ⁶⁰	NCT03245489	Anti-platelet therapy	Recruiting	
Ipatasertib ⁶¹	NCT05172258	AKT Inhibitor	Recruiting	
Xeloda ⁶²	NCT02842125	Chemotherapy	Recruiting	
GR-MX-02 ⁶³	NCT04987996	Galectin-3 inhibitor	Suspended, 2/6	
			response	
ADU-S100 ⁶⁴	NCT03937141	STING activator	No anti-tumor activity	
BNT11365	NCT04534205	CAR-T Therapy	Recruiting	
BEMPEG ⁶⁶	NCT04969861	IL-2 stimulator	No identified benefits	

Additionally, there are over 100 clinical trials registered on Clinicaltrials.gov that combine pembrolizumab with existing therapies and chemoradiation. Those completed have resulted in little to no improvement in response rates. Many of these studies target T cell receptors and cytotoxic granule stimulation, such as Bempegaldesleukin (BEMPEG), or target other upregulated pathways of cancer cells such as epidermal growth factor (EGFR).⁶⁷ Only recently have other cell types, such as natural killer (NK) cells become a topic of potential activation and therapy in combination with pembrolizumab in some solid tumors.^{68,69}

Section 1.3 - Natural Killer Cells

Section 1.3.1 Natural Killer Cell Functions

NK cells were first discovered in the 1960s, having formerly been mistaken for a subset of T cells.⁷⁰ They are found in blood, bone marrow, tonsils, the spleen, and lymph nodes. ^{71,72} Within mice they are known to mature within bone marrow and secondary lymphoid tissues.^{71,72} It is unknown exactly where human NK cells mature.⁷¹ They are a type of lymphocyte, a white blood cell that resides in blood and lymph nodes. Lymphocytes begin as pluripotent stem cells and can become innate lymphoid cells, B-cells, T cells, or NK cells.^{70,71} Activation of the CD132 receptor results in commitment to either T cells or NK cells.^{71,73} Outside signals, such as IL-15 and IL-17, can induce these cells to become NKP cells that express early NK receptors such as

NKp46 and NKG2D.^{70,71,73} Additional receptors and functions arise with continued maturation. There are two major subsets of NK cells: CD56bright, CD16- negative cells, known as cytokine producing NK cells, and CD56dim, CD16+ NK cells, known as cytotoxic NK cells.^{70–73} These subsets can further be divided, such as memory-like NK cells, but this dissertation will focus only on the two main subtypes. Cytokine producing NK cells are vital to whole immune cell function. When responding to tumors and pathogens, these cells produce IFN γ , TNF α , and GM-CSF, which activate T cells.^{70–74} They also secrete chemotactic cytokines called chemokines to recruit other lymphocytes to the infected tissue. Cytotoxic NK cells are part of the body's first line of defense against pathogens and cancer.

Adaptive immune cells recognize self-cells (and therefore do not attack normal cells in the body) by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) I and II .^{70–75} When the surface protein is a mismatch to known cells, the cytotoxic cells engages and exerts toxicity.⁷⁶Cancer cells can downregulate MHC to evade T cells, but NK cells have the unique ability to exert cytotoxicity in the absence of MHC. They mainly achieve this through activation of NKG2D.^{70–75} The ligand for NKG2D is often expressed on infected cells, allowing the NK cell to lyse the infected cell and release the pathogen to then be recognized by DCs, macrophages, and T cells for further elimination in the body.^{71,74} NK cells are also able to bypass many signals that cancer cells upregulate to evade the immune system. Attacking these cancer cells can then help the rest of the immune system recognize the offending cells as cancer. Activated NK cells also release recruiting signals that can bring additional immune cells to the site of the tumor. Therefore, ensuring NK cells are functional in the tumor environment can further power the immune system to fight cancer.

Section 1.3.2 Natural Killer Cell Receptors

NK cells have several receptors which change with maturity. These receptors are vital in signaling to an NK cell when to respond to a cell as a threat and give the cell many opportunities to overcome confounding signals. These signals can also tell researchers how active a cell is, if it has become exhausted, or if a certain signal has been taken advantage of by a pathogen or cancer.^{70,71,81–86,72–75,77–80}

Receptors on the NK cell surface play a role in various downstream actions by the cell. Receptors of particular interest in this thesis are TIM-3, PD-1, and NKG2D.⁷⁷ NK cells expressing both TIM-3 and PD-1 are considered functionally exhausted and have lower cytotoxicity but can be recovered.^{71,77} NKG2D is considered a vital receptor for cytolytic granule release and can be used as a general marker for the overall activation of a patient's NK cells.⁷¹

Section 1.3.3 Natural Killer Cells in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma

NK cell counts in HNSCC patients are known to be lower than non-cancer counterparts, and lower NK cell counts portend a poor prognosis for many solid tumors.^{87–90} NK cells are vital to the overall cancer response. Outside of their direct cytotoxic abilities, cytokine production can aid in activating and recruiting other immune cells. In the tumor microenvironment, NK cells are initiated for T cell trafficking, and a high NK:T cell ratio has also been identified as a positive prognosis factor.^{74,91} In PD-1 non-responders, NK cells are lower in number and attenuated.⁹² It is not clear exactly what causes NK cell attenuation or how to determine if an NK cell is irreversibly dysfunctional.^{93,94} However, the tumor microenvironment (TME) secretes many cytokines and activates exhausting signals known to downregulate NK cell activity.^{95,96} In HNSCC, pro-tumorigenic cytokines such as IL-6, CXCL1-5, IL-10, and TGF-β are increased both in the TME and in plasma.^{94–97} Many of these cytokines increase the expression of pSTAT3 in NK cells.⁹⁷ Although pSTAT3 can be activating and aid in proliferation of NK cells, chronic

upregulation of pSTAT3 causes dysregulation, slower growth, decreased IFNγ, and inhibition of anti-cancer STATs such as pSTAT1 and pSTAT5.^{97–100} pSTAT3 can reliably be knocked out of NK cells without impacting maturation, therefore therapies targeting the pathway or reducing cytokines that activate the pathway are becoming increasingly explored.¹⁰¹ Additionally, the presence of other cells in the TME can inhibit NK cell functionality.^{94,100} The hypoxic environment of tumors is known to reduce NK cell proliferation and cytotoxicity, but the mechanism by which hypoxia changes NK cell function is not well known.¹⁰² T-regs, T cells that regulate immune cell surveillance, are known to be increased in HNSCC and can reduce both T cell and NK cell activity.^{94,100,103} Additionally, 'crowding' cells that are not cytotoxic such as macrophages and neutrophils can keep NK cells from accessing the tumor cells, preventing direct killing.^{94,103}

Section 1.3.4: Role of STATs in Natural Killer Cell Function

Throughout maturation and activation, signal transducer and activator of transcription (STATs) play a vital role in NK cell function. Many receptors on NK cells phosphorylate Janus Kinase (JAK) when activated, which in-turn phosphorylates various STATs. There are 4 JAK proteins: JAK1, JAK2, JAK3, and TYK2. All can activate various STATs. The table below illustrates JAK/STAT/Receptor pairings.^{101,104}

Table	1 2.	STAT	recentors	and	downstream	effects
Iable	1.4.	ULAI	receptors	anu	uownsueam	CIICUIS

STAT	Receptors	Downstream effects in NK cells
STAT1	IL-2r, IL-5r, IL-9r, IL-	Maturation, cytotoxicity, IFN release
	21r, Insulin-r, IFN	
	receptors	
STAT2	IL-27r, IFN receptors	Viral load control
STAT3	IL-6r, IL-2r, IL-9r, IL-	IL-6 and IL-10 release, IFN inhibition, cytotoxicity
	10r, IL-15r, IL-21r,	inhibition
	EGFR, VEGFR, IFN	
	receptors	
STAT4	IL-12r, IL-27r	IFN release, maturation, cytotoxicity
STAT5	IL-2r ,IL-3r, IL-9r, IL-	Proliferation, survival, maturation, cytotoxicity
	15r, IL-21r, GM-	
	CSFR, IFN receptors	
STAT6	IL-4r, IL-5r IL-13r	cytotoxicity inhibition

STAT1 is vital to NK cell cytolytic activity.¹⁰¹ STAT1 knockout NK cells have reduced maturation and are under-responsive.¹⁰¹ However, there is mounting evidence that STAT1 after maturation controls IFNγ and perforin release and can potentially reverse NK cell exhaustion.^{94,101} STAT3 seems to be the main driver of NK cell tolerance and preventing autoimmunity.^{101,105} STAT3 overexpression has been implicated in poor prognosis in solid tumors and can prevent NK cells from tumor killing.¹⁰¹ STAT5 phosphorylation early in NK cell development pushes cells towards maturation and supports cytotoxicity.¹⁰¹ STAT5 deficiencies in leukemia result in poor prognosis, and NK cells with STAT5 knocked down do not develop into cytolytic cells.¹⁰¹ STATs 2,4, and 6 are less defined in NK cell biology. Current therapies have largely targeted STAT3, but there may be promise in activating STAT1 in mature, cytolytic NK cells.^{94,101,104}

Section 1.3.5: Why Focus on Natural Killer cells?

NK cells are understudied immune cells in the context of cancer. Therapies focusing only on T cells are limited, and patients in clinical trials have not benefited from sole T cell therapies. It is important to understand the entire immune system in the context of cancer and elucidating how to activate NK cells in the cancer environment will add another piece to the puzzle of cancer therapeutics.

Section 1.4 – Metformin

Metformin is a biguanide that was first discovered in the 1940s.¹⁰⁵ Metformin has been FDA approved to treat type II diabetes since 1995.¹⁰⁵ It has also been prescribed off label for polycystic ovary disease, weight loss, and diabetes prevention.¹⁰⁶ However, there has been recent interest in metformin for its anti-inflammatory properties.^{107–111} Metformin is a known activator of AMPK, which in turn inhibits several inflammatory pathways such as NFkB and mTOR.^{106–112} It is relatively safe and easily combined with many medications.¹⁰⁶ This thesis will discuss current information and studies of metformin within the context of solid tumors.

Section 1.4.1 Metformin in Cancer

In a study following patients with diabetes on metformin, a decreased rate of colon cancer incidence was observed in those consistently taking metformin.¹¹³ This influenced additional studies into metformin's potential anti-cancer properties. Metformin inhibits the insulin receptor and directly activates AMPK.^{106,110} Both of these pathways downregulate mTOR and NFkB. mTOR is a main driver of tumor growth, and NFkB drives inflammation and secretion of many inflammatory cytokines.¹¹⁰ Theoretically, metformin can directly impact the growth and immune inhibiting/exhausting of tumors by impacting these pathways.



Figure 1.2: Metformin regulation of tumor cells. Figure created with Biorender.

In *ex vivo* studies, metformin has been identified as delaying cancer transformation of stem cells by inhibiting IL-1, IL-6, VEGF, and NFkB.¹¹³ In radioresistant cancers, metformin reduced colony formation and increased apoptosis through STAT3 and TGF β inhibition.¹¹⁴ At the time of this thesis development, there are approximately 138 clinical trials utilizing metformin as cancer treatment either in combination with existing standard of care or alone. In widely explored cancers such as colorectal, ovarian, and breast, metformin has been shown to have protective effects but has had mixed results in patients with prevalent cancer. Although there seems to be some tumor growth inhibition with metformin, how metformin also impacts the immune system must be considered.

Section 1.4.2 Metformin in Immuno-Oncology

The effects of metformin on the immune system are less elucidated than those on tumor cells. Meta analysis shows there are many studies exploring macrophages and T cells in the context of metformin treatment, with little on innate cells.¹¹⁵

T cells have two major subtypes: CD4+ and CD8+.¹¹⁶ CD4+ cells respond to MHC class II and produce cytokines, while the subset regulatory T cells can dampen the immune system.¹¹⁶ CD8+ T cells respond to MHC class I and are directly cytotoxic to diseased cells such as cancer.^{116,117} These mature into effector T cells that may eventually become memory T cells, which have long-term immunological effects against remembered pathogens.¹¹⁶ Several studies have investigated the effects of metformin on both CD8+ and CD4+ T cells in many disease models. In lung cancer patients, metformin increased microRNA (miRNA) that induced memory phenotypes but did not change overall T cell counts.¹¹⁸ This mechanism was AMPK dependent and overcame mTOR inhibition that would normally discourage memory cell differentiation.¹¹⁸ In inflammatory models of lupus, T cell proliferation was decreased by metformin and increased regulatory T cell (Treg) differentiation.¹¹⁹ In CD4+ T cells, metformin has been identified as increasing autophagy and mitochondrial function while reducing the type I interferon (IFN) response.^{120,121} The type I IFN response can be a driving factor for anti-tumor response, but prolonged exposure to type I IFN cytokines, such as IL-10 and IL-6, can exhaust or lyse T cells.¹²²

Macrophages are essential innate cells that can clear pathogens and debris, while also secreting a number of cytokines that modulate the immune system.¹²³ There are two major subsets of macrophages: M1 and M2.¹²³ M1 macrophages are inflammatory and secrete cytokines, such as IL-6 and IL-1 β , while M2 macrophages are more healing and anti-inflammatory that secrete IL-10 and TGF- β .^{123,124} Metformin has been identified as polarizing macrophages to M2, which reduces inflammatory responses and decreases IL-1 β

secretion.^{119,124} Metformin also reduces reactive oxidation species (ROS) and collection of foam cells, which are dysfunctional macrophages clogged with cholesterol.^{115,125}

B-cells produce antibodies for T cell recognition and aid in their cytotoxicity. Metformin has been identified as reducing autoantibodies, differentiating B cells into plasma cells, creating germinal centers, and reducing TNFα production.^{119,126} Plasma cells created from germinal centers have high-affinity antibody production against pathogens and tumor cells and have been positively correlated with a better cancer prognosis.^{127,128}

Dendritic cells present antigens on their surface to help other cells of the immune system identify a pathogen. Studies have indicated metformin can decrease MHC complex and presentation of T cell stimulating molecules CD54, CD80, and CD86, as well as IL-23 secretion.^{119,129} IL-23 is vital to pSTAT3 balance in the tumor and immune system environment, but whether it is tumorigenic or anti-tumorigenic has yet to be determined.¹³⁰

NK cells have not been as extensively studied in response to metformin. One study utilized the immortalized NK cell line NK92, through which metformin was observed to increase NK cell activity through STAT5 activation and mTOR inhibition, independent of AMPK.¹³¹ Most studies of NK cells in response to metformin have focused on how changes to the tumor increase NK cell functions. In leukemia, metformin increased cytotoxicity by increasing intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1), a molecule that aids in recognition for cytotoxicity in both T cells and NK cells.¹³² In another, tumor cells had reduced PD-L1 expression when exposed to metformin.¹³³

Metformin has varying effects on the immune system. Most of its action seems to be anti-inflammatory, which can be beneficial to the state of cancer when many cytotoxic cells become exhausted from the constant flood of signals from both the tumor and other immune

cells. Studying how metformin affects both the entire immune system and individual cells could give valuable information on how to balance immune signaling in cancer.

Section 1.5.3: Metformin and Discovery of Novel Therapeutics

Metformin has varying systemic effects on cancer. While it has been beneficial in directly inhibiting cancer growth in vitro or preventing the onset of cancer, responses in advanced and/or metastatic cancer have been disappointing. Metformin is a non-specific drug with many targets and may have both positive and negative effects. By isolating the pathways that have a positive effect in HNSCC, we may be able to identify a more direct therapeutic as a single or combination therapy.

Section 1.5 – How This Thesis Contributes to Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Outcomes

We hypothesize that NK cell activation by metformin will increase NK cell numbers and functionality measures such as cytotoxicity. NK cell therapies are understudied in cancer, especially in HNSCC. NK cell function is important for HNSCC outcomes, but how to target NK cells to increase function and number remains unclear. This thesis aims to determine if a recently appreciated anti-cancer drug, metformin, may affect NK cells in a positive way, and how to isolate those pathways to develop new therapeutics that target NK cells. By improving NK cell function, overall immune cell function can be improved in patients. In addition, increased immune function could lead to increased tumor responses and cancer remissions.

Chapter II: Metformin Activation of Natural Killer Cells

Copyright notice – Portions of this chapter include information and figures from the following Open Access Article: Crist M, Yaniv B, Palackdharry S, Lehn MA, Medvedovic M, Stone T, Gulati S, Karivedu V, Borchers M, Fuhrman B, Crago A, Curry J, Martinez-Outschoorn U, Takiar V, Wise-Draper TM. Metformin Increases Natural Killer Function in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma through CXCL1. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*. Accepted September 30th, 2022. DOI: 10.1136/jitc-2022-005632

Section 2.1 – Background

Over 70% of new HNSCC cancers present as locally advanced disease (LAHNSCC), requiring multi-modality treatment.¹³⁴ For patients with locally advanced disease ineligible for resection, concurrent cisplatin-based chemoradiotherapy (CRT) is still recognized as the standard of care treatment.¹³⁵ Despite improved outcomes with CRT, there is still a high level of disease recurrence, especially in the HPV-negative, smoking population, necessitating improved treatment regimens.^{135,136} Alternative drug development studies have begun to explore repurposing medications originally intended to treat other non-cancer diseases. Metformin has increasing evidence of anti-cancer properties and is relatively safe alone and in combination with other drugs.¹³⁷ It has been identified as improving prognosis in several cancers, such as colorectal and ovarian cancer, but has not been largely explored in HNSCC. In accordance with the phase I open-label single site dose escalation study combining metformin and CRT in LAHNSCC, we investigated the effects of metformin on peripheral immune cells from patients on a clinical trial and further investigated these responses *ex vivo*.¹³⁸ We also briefly investigated the effects of metformin on tumor cell lines to determine if effects were direct or indirect.

Section 2.2 - Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Human Samples

Peripheral blood and serum were obtained from patients from the phase 1 clinical trial of metformin in combination with CRT in patients with LAHNSCC ((stage III/IV); NCT02325401) at the University of Cincinnati. Key eligibility criteria for patient inclusion in the trial were confirmation by tissue biopsy of newly diagnosed LAHNSCC that was unresectable with no prior chemotherapy or radiation treatment. Key exclusion criteria included metastatic disease, known history of diabetes requiring insulin, or nasopharyngeal carcinoma as the primary tumor site. In addition, it was confirmed that patients had not received metformin prior to study entry. Blood samples were collected before and after 14-days of treatment with metformin and prior to chemotherapy and radiation. Primary tumor specimens were obtained from subjects enrolled in another previous investigator-initiated HNSCC surgical trial carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Thomas Jefferson University IRB (NCT02083692). Criteria for NCT02083692 can be found in Amin et al.¹³⁹ Samples used in this study were from patients with no prior history of chemoradiation prior to surgical resection. Patients received metformin for 9-24 days prior to surgery. Additional ex vivo studies were performed on age matched peripheral blood obtained from IRB-approved studies UCCI-UMB-14-01 (IRB #2014-4755) and general specimen collection protocol (IRB #2017-2137) to investigate differences in molecular and immune cell markers compared to clinical outcomes in HNSCC patients and normal healthy controls. The studies were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Cincinnati and were conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice guidelines and the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was received from all participating patients prior to enrollment.

2.2.2 Cell Lines

Human-derived HNSCC cell lines UMSCC-47 (kindly gifted by Randall Kimple, University of Wisconsin),Cal27 (kindly gifted by Nira Ben-Jonathan, University of Cincinnati), and HN5 were grown and maintained in 1x DMEM high glucose (Corning), 8mM L-glutamine (Corning), 10% FBS (Omega Scientific), 1% pen/strep (Corning) and 1x nonessential amino acids (Corning). All cell lines were cultured at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Mycoplasma presence was checked every 3 months (MycoProbe, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) and reported no cases of contamination within these cell lines as of February 2022. UMSCC47, HN5 and Cal27 cell lines were STR Profiled confirmed by Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center Cytogenics Labs in May 2020.

2.2.3 Flow Cytometry for Peripheral Immune Cell Characterization

Flow cytometry was performed on thawed peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC). Cells were quickly thawed, washed in flow buffer (FB) (1x PBS + 2% FBS), and fixed for 1hr at room temperature (RT) in 1.6% paraformaldehyde (PFA, Electron Microscope Sciences, Hatfield, PA). Cells were then washed and stained with the appropriate antibodies for 1hr at RT in the dark, washed in FB, and analyzed by flow cytometry. For intracellular staining, cells were quick-thawed, washed in FB, and fixed with 1.6% PFA for 1hr at RT, followed by washing with FB. Cells were then permeabilized with buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and stained with intracellular antibodies for 1hr at RT in the dark. Cells were washed and analyzed by flow cytometry. Flow cytometry was performed at Shriner's Hospital for Children (Cincinnati, OH), USA, using a 5-laser BD LSRII equipped with a UV laser (355nm). Data were analyzed with FlowJo V10. Populations are defined as follows: CD56^{bright}CD16⁻CD3⁻ were considered cytokine

producing NK cells, CD56^{dim}CD16⁺CD3⁻ were considered cytotoxic NK cells, CD56⁺CD3⁺ were considered NKT cells, CD56⁻CD3⁺CD8⁺ were considered cytotoxic T cells, and CD56⁻CD3⁺CD4⁺ were considered helper T cells.

2.2.4 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

ELISA kits for IFN-γ, TGF-β, CXCL1, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, and IL-10 were obtained from R&D Systems; the ELISA kit for perforin was obtained from ABCAM. ELISA was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. Protocols included overnight coating of capture antibody diluted by lot number recommendation, 1hr block with 400uL 2% BSA in PBS, 2hr sample incubation at room temperature of 100uL sample (no dilution of sample was performed in these experiments), 2hr capture antibody incubation with 100uL capture antibody diluted by lot number recommendation, 20min Streptavidin incubation with 100uL of 1:40 dilution of stock, and 15min incubation with 100uL included TMB ELISA reagent. 50uL stop solution of in house 2N sodium sulfide was added to stop reaction before reading at 500nm wavelength on plate reader. All plates included standard curve prepared per lot number recommendation with range of 35-2000pg.

2.2.5 Single-Cell Multiplex Cytokine Profiling

PBMCs were thawed and stimulated with 100U/mL of IL-2 for 16hrs. PBMCs were washed in PBS+ 2% FBS and resuspended in 20uL solution per 10^7 cells. 20uL CD56 microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec #130-050-400) were added for 20min. Cells were run through Miltenyi SL columns, and labeled CD56 cells were flushed using plunger. Isolated CD56+ cells were washed and resuspended in 100uL RPMI. 10uL CD56 stain included in IsoPlexis' Isocode

Single Cell Polyfunctional Strength kit was added incubated with cells at 36°C for 20min. Cells were washed and resuspended in RPMI containing 12mM metformin or sterile water. Approximately 30,000 cells were loaded onto IsoPlexis Single Cell Secretome IsoCode chips (IsoPlexis, Haven, CN) and analyzed with the IsoLight system.

2.2.6 Tissue Staining

Tissue slides were incubated for 1hr at 60° C. Slides were deparaffinized and incubated in Antigen retrieval solution (Biogenex HK086-9K) for 20min at 90°C. Slides were then washed, blocked in 10% goat serum and 1% BSA in TBS overnight, incubated in primary in the block agent overnight, washed in TBS and incubated overnight with secondary (Invitrogen 2149786). Slides were washed, incubated overnight with conjugated antibodies, washed, and stained with 1:1000 diluted DAPI in block agent for 15min. Slides were washed and mounted with Fluoromount-G (Invitrogen 00-4958-02) and imaged on Zeiss Axio Observer Z1 inverted microscope connected to a Zeiss LSM710 confocal with available laser lines of 405, 458, 488, 514, 561 and 633nm. Images were analyzed using ImageJ (NIH). Number of NK cells were determined by using the measure particles function on NKp46 only images. The number of infiltrating NK cells was determined as particles within pan-cytokeratin (PCK) stained areas.

2.2.7 Natural Killer Cytotoxicity Assay (NKCA)

NK cells were isolated from PBMCs using the EasySep Human NK Cell Isolation Kit (Stem Cell Technologies). Cells were washed in PBS + 2% FBS and treated with drug indicated in legend for 24hrs in culture medium. One day before co-culture, cells were collected, washed, and stained with 5(6)-Carboxyfluorescein diacetate N-succinimidyl ester (CFDA-SE; StemCell

Technologies). Untreated or treated UMSCC47, Cal-27, or matched primary HNSCC tumor cell lines cells were plated at 10,000 cell/ml and assumed to double overnight. NK cells were resuspended in RPMI 1640 (Corning) with 5% human serum at a density of 200,000 cells/ml. Cells were co-cultured for a target:effector ratio of 1:5 for 4hrs, collected, and washed in flow buffer. Cells were then stained with 7AAD Viability Staining Solution (Biolegend). Cells were immediately run on a 4-laser BD Fortessa Instrument (University of Cincinnati Cancer Cell Biology Department, Cincinnati, Ohio). Target cells were considered any cell that was CSFE. Any 7AAD+ cells were considered dead cells. NK killed cells were calculated by the following equation: (%CSFE+7AAD+ experimental co-culture) – (%CSFE+7AAD+ control no co-culture [baseline death]).

2.2.8 RNA-Sequencing (RNA-seq)

HNSCC NK cells were isolated from PBMCs using the EasySep Human NK Cell Isolation Kit (Stem Cell Technologies). NK cells were resuspended at 10^6 cell/mL density and incubated for 24hrs with 12mM metformin or sterile water vehicle. After 24hrs, all cells were washed, suspended in 1mL CyroStor, and frozen in -80°C fridge. Samples were shipped to Genewiz/Azenta for standard RNA-seq profiling. At least 10^6 cells per sample were shipped. Poly(A) selection was performed by Azenta. RNA was run on Illumina NovaSeq with 2x150bp configuration by Azenta. Data were trimmed, mapped, and returned to investigators. Sequence reads were aligned to the current reference mouse genome (GRCh38) using the STAR aligner and the reads aligned to each known gene were counted based on the latest GENCODE definitions of gene features (44,45).
2.2.9 Western Blot Analysis

NK92, Cal27, UMSCC47 or HN5 cells were cultured with drug as described. Cells were collected in RIPA (0.05% sodium deoxycholate, 150nM NaCl, 50nM Tris HCL, 0.1% SDS, 1% NP-40). Protein content was analyzed by Pierce BCA kit (Thermo 23225). 50ug of protein was diluted in 1x loading buffer (SDS, bromophenol blue, 47% glycerol, Tris 0.5M pH 6.8, 0.2mM DTT-G) and heated to 90°C for 3 minutes. Prepared lysate was loaded into gradient gels (Biorad 4561093) and run at 85V for 1.5 hour in Biorad casing with a Biorad powerpack in 1x running buffer (Tris, Glycine, SDS). Gels were transferred on nitrocellulose and run at 100V on bench for 1 hour in 1x transfer buffer (Tris, Glycine). Membranes were blocked in 5% BSA in TBS for 1hr, washed, and incubated in primary diluted in 2% BSA in TBS overnight. Membranes were washed and incubated in Licor secondary (Licor 926-32211 and 925-68070) in 5% BSA in TBS for 1hr. Membranes were washed and imaged on a Licor Odyssey Clx. Images were analyzed in Image Studio Lite V 5.2.

2.2.10 qPCR and PCR

Treated or infected cells were collected in Qiagen RNAeasy (Cat# 74004) buffer and spun at 10xg for 5min in QiaShred tubes (Cat# 79656). RNA collection was continued per Qiagen protocol. RNA was eluted into RNA-free water and analyzed on Nanodrop, cDNA production was continued per Qiagen cDNA kit protocols (Cat# 205211). cDNA was checked for purity and concentration on Nanodrop. Thermo-fisher qPCR kit protocol (Cat#4472903) was followed for the following primers:

IL-6 Forward: AGACAGCCACTCACCTCTTCAG IL-6 Reverse: TTCTGCCAGTGCCTCTTTGCTG IL-8 Forward: CCTGATTTCTGCAGCTCTGTG

24

IL-8 Reverse: CCAGACAGAGCTCTCTTCCAT IL-4 Forward: CCGTAACAGACATCTTTGCTGCC IL-4: Reverse: GAGTGTCCTTCTCATGGTGGCT IL-10 Forward: TCTCCGAGATGCCTTCAGCAGA IL-10 Reverse: TCAGACAAGGCTTGGCAACCCA Actin Forward: CACCATTGGCAATGAGCGGTTC Actin Reverse: AGGTCTTTGCGGATGTCCACGT

2.2.11 Lentivirus Infection of Tumor Cells

pSTAT3 flag lentivirus was kindly gifted by the Zhao lab at Case Western Reserve University. This lentivirus adds a tag to STAT3 so that it cannot be phosphorylated in the nucleus. 10uL of lentivirus stock with 10ng polybrene were added to Cal27, HN5, or UMSCC47 cells in optiMEM for 20min. optiMEM was removed and replaced with culture media for 72hrs. Media was replaced with fresh culture medium containing 10ng/mL kanamycin. Surviving cells were expanded and confirmed for reduction of phosphorylated STAT3 by western blot.

2.2.12 Statistics

An unpaired 2-tailed *t* test with Welch's correction was used for analysis between flow cytometry in controls versus HNSCC patients. A 2-tailed Students *t* test was used to compare differences between HNSCC patients before and after treatment in flow cytometry and cytokine experiments. Differences in immune cell populations between three groups were compared by one-way ANOVA with specific post-hoc contrasts. NKCA data were compared using a paired *t* test. Statistical analysis was performed in GraphPad Prism (V10). Differences between groups were considered statistically significant when P < 0.05. Paired-sample differential gene expression analysis of RNA-seq data was performed by fitting a two-factor generalized linear model based on negative-binomial distribution of read counts as implemented in the *edgeR* Bioconductor package. In the two-factor model, the factor of interest was the metformin treatment and the blocking factor corresponded to five patients from whom the HNSCC NK cells were isolated.^{140,141} The p-values for the metformin treatment effect were adjusted based on false discovery rate (FDR).^{142,143}

Section 2.3 – Results and Discussion

Section 2.3.1: Metformin Increases Peripheral Blood Natural Killer Cells in HNSCC Patients.

Low NK cell counts in peripheral blood is a poor prognostic factor in patients with both solid and non-solid tumors, while the presence of highly activated NK cells can improve prognosis.^{87,88} Circulating levels of NK cells in patients with HNSCC are significantly lower compared to their healthy counterparts.^{89,144} To confirm this in the population of patients seen in the clinic from which our translational samples were sourced, evaluation of peripheral populations of NK cells in patients with HNSCC compared to healthy control patients were evaluated via flow cytometry. **Figure 2.1** is a representative scatterplot of the cytokine-producing CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ and cytotoxic CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ NK cell subpopulations in a healthy control sample and HNSCC patient. Due to the known decline of NK cells with age, healthy controls were age-matched by selecting controls in the age range 50-100 years old. Flow cytometry was performed on PBMCs isolated from patient peripheral blood. The gating strategy was as follows: lymphocytes à live cells à CD3- à CD56/CD16.



Figure 2.1: <u>Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) patients have lower natural</u> <u>killer (NK) cell counts in the peripheral blood</u>. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from non-diseased (healthy) donors (A) or HNSCC patients (B) and evaluated by flow cytometry for NK cell populations (CD56+, CD16-/+ cells). Data collected was performed by former lab member Benjamin Yaniv.

After confirming our HNSCC population has lower NK cell counts than healthy controls, we determined whether there was a difference in NK cell subpopulations. There were fewer NK cell populations in HNSCC patients (n = 8) compared to healthy controls (n = 5) for CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ (P < 0.002), and CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ (P < 0.05) (**Figure 2.2**). The gating strategy was as follows: lymphocytes à live cells à CD3- à CD56/CD16.



Figure 2.2: <u>Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) patients have lower proportions</u> <u>of all natural killer (NK) cell types.</u> NK cell populations were evaluated by flow cytometry in both HNSCC (n = 8) and control samples (n = 5) Data was analyzed by unpaired Student's t-test. Data was collected by former lab member Benjamin Yaniv.

Impaired NK cell activity is associated with tumor progression.⁸⁸ A measure of activity, production of IFN- γ , was measured from NK cells negatively selected from cryopreserved PBMCs and primed overnight with low dose IL-2. Isolated NK cells were then activated with 1ng IL-12 and 10ng IL-18 for 24hrs to induce IFN- γ release and measured by ELISA. Overall, baseline IFN- γ production was higher in healthy controls (*n* = 4) compared to HNSCC patients (*n* = 4; p = 0.005). Upon activation, HNSCC patient-derived NK cells increase IFN- γ production significantly but not to healthy donor levels. Altogether, these data support previous observations of decreases in circulating NK cell populations and decreased functional capacity in patients with HNSCC. (**Figure 2.3**).



Figure 2.3: <u>Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) patient-derived natural killer</u> (NK) cells have lower IFN-γ activation. NK cells that were primed with either IL-2 or IL-2, IL-12 and IL-18 were analyzed by ELISA for IFN-γ secretion. (A) Comparison of activated NK cells from healthy donors (n = 5). (B) Comparison of activated NK cells from HNSCC patients (n = 5). (C) Comparison of NK cells from healthy donors to those from HNSCC patients. Data were analyzed by paired Student's t-test for (A, B) and unpaired Student's t-test for (C). Data was collected by former lab member Benjamin Yaniv.

With support that HNSCC patient-derived NK cells are lower in counts and activity, we utilized blood samples from a clinical trial ("Dose-finding study of metformin with chemoradiation in locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma"; NCT02325401) to investigate metformin as a possible activator of HNSCC immune cells. Late stage/advanced HNSCC patients were identified and had blood drawn pre-treatment. Patients were then administered metformin for 2 weeks and had their blood drawn post-metformin (**Figure 2.4**).



Figure 2.4: Schema of blood draws from clinical trial "Dose-finding study of metformin with chemoradiation in locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma" (NCT02325401).

To determine if metformin changed overall immune cell counts, whole patient blood was measured for white blood cells (WBC; **Figure 2.5A**) and absolute leukocyte count (ALC; **Figure 2.5B**). Some patients had a slight increase (largest increase: 1.4-fold), but there was no significant difference in ALC or WBC before and after metformin treatment overall.



Figure 2.5: <u>Metformin does not change overall white blood cell numbers.</u> (A) white blood cell count ratio of patients pre/post metformin treatment (n = 8). (B) Absolute lymphocyte count pre/post metformin. Data was collected by former lab member Benjamin Yaniv and clinical fellow Vidhya Karivedu.

We next utilized flow cytometry on patient PBMCs to investigate changes in T cell populations. There was no significant change in the overall CD3 population (**Figure 2.6A**) or the CD8+/CD4+ ratio (**Figure 2.6B**). Therefore, there was no detectible change in numbers of cytotoxic T cells after metformin treatment.



Figure 2.6: <u>Metformin does not change overall numbers of T cells.</u> (A) Overall T cell counts pre/post metformin treatment (n = 8). (B) CD8 (Cytotoxic) and CD4 (cytokine producing) T cell ratios pre/post. shift in T cell populations. Data in (B,C) analyzed by paired Student's t-test. Data was collected by former lab member Benjamin Yaniv.

We further divided T cells into naïve, central memory, effector memory, and effector T cells. Naïve T cells are available to prime against new antigens, effector T cells are active but not committed to a pathogen, central memory T cells proliferate rapidly and express honing chemokines in response to a committed pathogen, and effector memory T cells rapidly release granzyme and perforin but proliferate slowly.^{145,146} Utilizing flow cytometry, CD8+ T cells were gated into CCR7+/- and CD45RO+/- (**Figure 2.7A**) and quantified in **Figure 2.7B**. T effector memory cells increased upon metformin treatment with a p value of 0.02 and there was no significant change in other cell types.



Figure 2.7: <u>Metformin shifts memory T cell phenotypes</u> (A) Flow cytometry graph depicting shift in T cell populations. (B) Percentage of T cell types naïve (CCR7+CC45RO-), central memory (CCR7+CC45RO+), effector (CCR7-, CD45RO-), and effector memory (CCR7-,CD45RO+). Data in (B) analyzed by paired students t-test. N=8 from metformin treated HNSCC patients. Data collected by former lab member Benjamin Yaniv.

After observing minor changes in T cell populations, we evaluated whether patient NK cell phenotypes shifted after treatment with metformin. Metformin treatment resulted in a relative but not significant increase of cytokine-producing CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ (**Figure 2.8A**) and cytotoxic CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ (**Figure 2.8B**) NK cells. Additionally, most patients (7 of 8) experienced an increase in the ratio (**Figure 2.8C**) of percent positive CD56^{dim}CD16⁺:CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ cells. The gating strategy was as follows: lymphocytes à live cells à CD3- à CD56/CD16





post-metformin in LAHNSCC. (C) Ratio of cytotoxic cells to cytokine producing cells. (A, B, C) analyzed by paired students t-test. Data was collected by former lab member Ben Yaniv.

To determine if these increased cells were active, we analyzed expression of the activation marker NKG2D (killer cell lectin like receptor K1 [KLRK1], CD314) on NK cells and other cytotoxic lymphocytes.¹⁴⁷ At baseline, a higher number of CD56⁺CD3⁻ NK cells of healthy controls are NKG2D⁺ compared to patients with HNSCC (**Figure 2.9A**). After metformin treatment, NKGD2 activity is partially restored in HNSCC patients to 35.89%. Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) demonstrates increased surface expression of NKG2D on both CD56^{bright}CD16⁻ and CD56^{dim}CD16⁺ NK cells in HNSCC patients after metformin treatment (**Figure 2.9B**).



Figure 2.9: <u>Metformin increases activation marker NKG2D.</u> (A) NKG2D expression in healthy donors, as well as in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) patients pre- compared to post-metformin treatment. (B) NKG2D expression in cytokine producing vs cytotoxic NK cells pre- and post-metformin. (A) Analyzed by two-way ANOVA and (B) analyzed by paired student's t-test. n = 8. Data collected by lab member Ben Yaniv.

We next examined if the increase in NKG2D expression on NK cells in the peripheral blood translated to an increase in NK cell tumor infiltration. In an HNSCC surgical window of opportunity trial conducted by Curry et al., patient pre-treatment (before) biopsy tissue was collected at enrollment.^{139,148} Patients received 500mg of metformin daily for 3 days, and then 1000mg daily up until day of surgery for at least 9 days. Surgical resection (pre-metformin treatment) tissue was also collected. Tumor slides were stained with the tumor marker pancytokeratin (PCK), T cell marker CD3, and NK cell activation marker NKp46 and analyzed by immunofluorescence (**Figure 2.10**). 5 images (bottom left and right, top left and right, and center) were taken at 10x on confocal per slide.



Figure 2.10: <u>Metformin increases expression of NKp46 and CD3 protein expression in head</u> <u>and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) tissue.</u> (A) immunofluorescence of pancytokeratin (Red), NKp46 (pink), and CD3 (Orange) in biopsy (pre-metformin) and resection (post-metformin) tissue in HNSCC patients.

Consistent with earlier results, CD3 tumor infiltration was increased in response to metformin treatment.^{139,148} Total NKp46 expressing NK cells were increased on the tissue slides and NKp46 expressing cells infiltrated into PCK expressing tumor were also increased. It should be noted that these would be tumor infiltrating NK cells (NKILs), which were not examined in the clinical trial source from figures 2.1-2.9.



Figure 2.11: Metformin increases natural killer (NK) cell infiltration in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC). (A) Quantification of immunofluorescence in Figure 2.10 of all NKp46 positive points in tumor tissue (n = 9). Each point was an average of 5 images taken at 10x per tissue slide. (B) Quantification of immunofluorescence in Figure 2.10 of all NKp46 positive points within PCK positive tissue. Individual punctuated marks representing immune cells were counted using Image J. A border was drawn around PCK positive tissue and punctuated marks within the border were counted as infiltrating cells. Patient totals are averages of all 5 images. (A) and (B) were analyzed by paired Student's t-test.

Section 2.3.2: Indirect Activation of Peripheral Blood Natural Killer Cells

To determine if metformin treatment of tumor cells and NK cells enhanced NK cell cytotoxicity *ex vivo*, we treated the Cal27 HNSCC cell line with 12mM metformin for 24 hours. Cells were then co-cultured with untreated HNSCC patient or healthy donor NK cells and analyzed by flow for tumor cell cytotoxicity. Although baseline cytotoxicity was higher, there was no change in healthy donor NK cell mediated tumor cytotoxicity (**Figure 2.12A**) but HNSCC NK cell cytotoxicity did significantly increase upon HNSCC metformin treatment (**Figure 2.12B**).



Figure 2.12: <u>Metformin treated tumor cells are more susceptible to natural killer (NK) cell killing.</u> (A) Healthy donor NK cell killing against vehicle or metformin treated Cal27 cells. (B) HNSCC NK cell killing against vehicle or metformin treated Cal27 cells. Baseline death of cells treated with vehicle or metformin and not exposed to NK cells was subjected from total death counts to consider any potential toxicities of metformin to tumor cells. (A, B) analyzed by paired student's t-test. n = 3 for healthy donors, n = 5 for head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC).

When compared directly, HNSCC metformin treated tumor and NK cell co-culture resulted in increased NK cell cytotoxicity to level of healthy untreated donors co-cultured with untreated tumor cells (**Figure 2.13**).





Treatment with metformin could modulate tumor cell lines to either be more susceptible to NK cell killing or changes cytokine secretion to cause NK cell activation. To determine how metformin may be changing tumor cell cytokine secretion, we treated tumor cells lines Cal27, HN5, and UMSCC47 with metformin or vehicle for 24 hours and collected RNA. RNA was converted to cDNA and analyzed by qPCR for changes in cytokine expression (**Fig 2.14**). Fold-change was an average of 3 technical replicates. Metformin treatment of HN5 cells resulted in a reduction of IL-6, IL-8, and IL-10 expression, all of which are STAT3 activated cytokines

generally not beneficial for mature NK cells. IL-4 was not detectable in HN5 cells. IL-6 was reduced and IL-4 was increased in metformin treated Cal27 cells. IL-4 generally leads to NK cell proliferation. Similarly, metformin resulted in an increase in IL-4 and decrease in IL-6 and IL-10 in UMSCC47 cells. Metformin modulated tumor cell cytokine secretions, but not at the same levels for every cell type. The direct tumor response to metformin may be patient specific. However, it is not clear whether these changes and subsequent pathway activation would change NK cell behavior in the four hours the cells are exposed to one another in co-culture.



Figure 2.14: <u>Metformin reduces pSTAT3 related cytokine expression in head and neck</u> <u>squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) cell lines</u>. HNSCC cell lines HN5, Cal27, and UMSCC47 were treated with vehicle or 12mM metformin for 24hrs and RNA was collected for cDNA conversion and finally qPCR. Each point is fold change of 3 replicates. Data collected by lab members Reece Swoverlandand Makenzie Fourman.

In addition, RNA expression does not always correlate with protein expression. Using ELISA and supernatant collected from the plates of the qPCR samples, there was no significant change in cytokine production of those evaluated (data not shown). The discrepancy between RNA and protein may be due to some post translational modifications that occur intracellularly or degradation of cytokines post-collection. Cancer cells are known to have unstable mRNA, which may lead to changes in protein that are not consistent with changes to RNA detected by qPCR or PCR.¹⁴⁹

Modulation of RNA had the highest fold change in pSTAT3 related cytokines IL-6 and IL-10. We investigated if the mechanism of action for metformin on tumor cell lines could be pSTAT3 dependent. As discussed, tumor cells express high levels of pSTAT3 which in turn activates the secretion of inhibitory signals to the immune system. We confirmed that tumor cell line Cal27 and UMSCC47 had significant decreases in pSTAT3 in response to metformin treatment (**Figure 2.15**) when probed by western blot.



Figure 2.15: <u>Metformin reduces pSTAT3 in tumor cells</u>. (A) Western blot analysis of UMSCC47 and Cal27 head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) tumor cell lines. BP-1-102 is a pSTAT3 inhibitor used as a control. (B) Quantification of A. (B) Analyzed by one-way repeated measures ANOVA. Blot was repeated 3 times for quantification

pS6K was used as a control to confirm metformin activity, as metformin is known to reduce pS6K over 24 hours. We utilized BP-1-102, a specific pSTAT3 inhibitor, to ensure we properly probed for pSTAT3 on our western. Quantification of 3 repeats (2 blots not shown) indicated that pSTAT3 was significantly reduced with metformin in both cell lines, although not to levels of a pSTAT3 inhibitor. pS6 was unaffected by the inhibitor.

After observing the reduction in pSTAT3 after metformin treatment, we explored if pSTAT3 was necessary for metformin's mechanism of action on tumor cells. We utilized a flagged lentivirus that prevents STAT3 from moving into the nucleus and therefore cannot be phosphorylated. This keeps levels of total STAT3 the same as wildtype lines and decreases pSTAT3 alone.

One ng lentivirus supplied by the Zhang lab (Case Western Reserve University) was added to the HN5, Cal27, and UMSCC47 cell lines and incubated for 4 hours. Cells were washed and incubated 72hrs before all cell lines were kept in kanamycin selection media and probed for loss of STAT3 phosphorylation by western blot analysis (**Figure 2.16**). See appendix Figure 1 for lentiviral map.

42



Figure 2.16: Lentivirus infection reduces phosphorylation of STAT3: Cal27, HN5 and UMSCC47 cells controls or lentiviral infected cells were collected for lysates and analyzed by western blot analysis.

Although this data is interesting, we decided not to proceed with continued analysis of the mechanism of metformin effects in HNSCC tumor cells and subsequent effects on NK cells for this thesis. Several papers in the past reported pSTAT3 inhibition as a vital mechanism of action of metformin in solid tumors.^{109,110,150–152} pSTAT3 knockdown cell lines remain in the lab and could be further explored later. For these reasons, we decided to turn our focus to the direct effects of metformin on NK cells and its mechanism.

Section 2.3.3: Direct Activation of NK Cells

To determine how metformin alters cytokine and cytotoxic molecule secretion of individual NK cells, we isolated NK cells from PBMCs collected from newly diagnosed HNSCC patients prior to any anti-cancer treatment and subjected them to 12mM metformin or vehicle. The cells were analyzed on an IsoLight machine for 16hrs to evaluate single cell multiplex cytokine secretion (**Figure 2.17**). Metformin treatment significantly increased the cytotoxic molecule, perforin (p=0.00009).



Figure 2.17: Metformin increases perforin expression in NK cells. Signal intensity of cytokines produced by natural killer (NK) cells treated with vehicle (12uL sterile water) or 12mM metformin for 16hrs. Analyzed by paired student's t-test. n = 8.

When analyzing cytokinesIL-9 IL-8, IL-10, and IL-6 trended towards a decrease in response to metformin (**Figure 2.18**). Interleukins 6,8,9 and 10 increase STAT3 phosphorylation, and are considered tumorigenic in the tumor microenvironment.⁹⁷



Figure 2.18: <u>Metformin reduces pSTAT3 responding cytokines.</u> Signal intensity of cytokines produced by natural killer (NK) cells treated with vehicle (12uL sterile water) or 12mM metformin for 16hrs. Analyzed by paired student's t-test. n = 8.

With support of increased perforin secretion, we next investigated if this was associated with enhanced NK cell cytotoxic function. We utilized a flow cytometry based NKCA to determine HNSCC tumor cell killing by HNSCC patient-derived NK cells. Metformin treatment resulted in a significant increase of HNSCC NK cell cytotoxicity in Cal27 tumor cells lines (**Figure 2.19**). Cal27 cells are HPV-, oral tumor cells.



Figure 2.19: <u>Metformin increases cytotoxicity of peripheral natural killer (NK) cells against</u> <u>Cal27 cells.</u> Calculated cytotoxicity of peripheral NK cells against Cal27 cells at a 1:5 ratio. Analyzed by paired student's t-tests. n = 9.

To support that isn't a one cell type phenomenon, we next co-cultured the peripheral NK cells with HPV+, oral cell line UMSCC47 (**Figure 2.20**). There was once again a significant increase in toxicity.



Figure 2.20: <u>Metformin increases cytotoxicity of peripheral natural killer (NK) cells against</u> <u>UMSCC47 cells.</u> Calculated cytotoxicity of peripheral NK cells against UMSCC47 cells at a 1:5 ratio. Analyzed by paired student's t-tests. n =12.

We also observed the effects of metformin on normal donor NK cells. Metformin does not significantly affect healthy NK cell cytotoxicity (n = 8), although metformin does rescue HNSCC NK cell mediated cytotoxicity to near normal donor levels (**Figure 2.21**).



Figure 2.21: <u>Metformin does not change healthy donor natural killer cell activity.</u> Cytotoxicity of healthy donors peripheral natural killer (NK) cells treated with vehicle or metformin compared against head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) samples. Analyzed by two-way ANOVA. n = 9 for healthy donor and n = 20 for HNSCC.

We also collected evidence that normal NK cells treated with metformin did not have a significant change in cytokine secretion on a single cell basis, despite probing for similar cytokines that were reduced in HNSCC patients with metformin treatment (data not shown). Due

to this lack of change, we focused only on the mechanism by which metformin changed HNSCC cells.

To determine by what mechanism metformin exerts its mechanism of action on NK cells, we treated pre-treatment HNSCC NK cells with vehicle or metformin for 24 hours and analyzed by bulk RNA-seq. (See methods for collection methods and equipment; **Figure 2.22**). Expression of two genes were significantly downregulated (See appendix for non-adjusted significant genes): *Thioredoxin interacting protein (TXNIP)* and *C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 1 (CXCL1)*. TXNIP regulates glucose and is known to be decreased with metformin due to its insulin interaction. Therefore, we chose to further investigate how CXCL1 plays a role in metformin mediated activation.



Figure 2.22: Metformin suppresses CXCL1 RNA expression of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer (NK) cells: NK cells were treated with vehicle or 12mM

metformin for 24hrs and whole frozen cells were sent for RNA-seq. Blue indicates lower expression and red indicates higher expression. See methods for statistical analysis. n =5.

We next treated HNSCC patient-derived NK cells with metformin for 24 hours and collected the supernatant for ELISA analysis to confirm if the observed differential mRNA expression translated to differential protein expression. Metformin decreased CXCL1 protein expression in NK cells (**Figure 2.23**). How this occurs is further explored in Chapter 3.



Figure 2.23: Metformin suppresses CXCL1 protein expression of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer (NK) cells: NK cells were treated with vehicle or metformin for 24hrs and supernatant was collected for ELISA analysis. Analyzed by paired students t-test. n = 10.

Section 2.4 – Summary

There is a gap between patients that are predicted to respond to immunotherapy and those who do. There has been recent interest in further boosting the immune system in addition to blocking the PD-1 checkpoint. Much of this interest has been focused on T cells, which can directly kill cancer cells. Metformin has recently garnered attention as a potential safe, immune system boosting drug. Utilizing patient samples from the phase 1 clinical trial NCT02325401, we found that T cells remained relatively unaltered in HNSCC patients treated with metformin, but NK cells, which are also capable of directly killing tumor cells, were more abundant and more active upon metformin treatment. We also observed increased NK cell infiltration of the tumor postmetformin treatment in tissues from another phase I clinical trial NCT0208369 in which patients were treated with metformin pre-surgery.

We first investigated if metformin was directly impacting the tumor which could change the immune cell landscape and found that tumor cells treated with metformin were more susceptible to NK cell killing. When RNA was collected from metformin treated samples, there was a reduction in pSTAT3 related cytokine expression, but this change did not correlate with enhanced cytokine protein expression in the supernatant. Western blot analysis showed pSTAT3 is downregulated in tumor cells treated with metformin and we created tumor cell line with decreased pSTAT3. However, multiple studies have shown this link between metformin and solid tumors, so we focused on the effects of metformin on NK cells directly.

NK cell *ex vivo* newly diagnosed HNSCC patient-derived NK cells treated with metformin for twenty-four hours had increased perforin and decreased inflammatory cytokines. They were also more cytotoxic against HPV- and HPV+ cell lines. This same effect was not observed in age matched healthy donor NK cells, possibly because healthy NK cells have lower activation of pSTAT3, a JAK/STAT known to be upregulated in the TME and downregulated by metformin. To investigate how metformin was exerting this activation on HNSCC NK cells, we analyzed

51

control and treated patient NK cells by RNA-seq and surprisingly saw a significant decrease in CXCL1, which was repeated on a protein level using an ELISA. CXCL1 suppression may play a role in the activation of NK cells in the presence of metformin. How that may play into existing known activation and deactivation signals in NK cells will be discussed in Chapter 3.

Chapter III: Mechanism of CXCL1 and Metformin in Natural Killer Cells

Copyright notice – Portions of this chapter include information and figures from the following Open Access Article: Crist M, Yaniv B, Palackdharry S, Lehn MA, Medvedovic M, Stone T, Gulati S, Karivedu V, Borchers M, Fuhrman B, Crago A, Curry J, Martinez-Outschoorn U, Takiar V, Wise-Draper TM. Metformin Increases Natural Killer Function in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma through CXCL1. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*. Accepted September 30th, 2022. DOI: 10.1136/jitc-2022-005632

Section 3.1 – Background

As mentioned in Chapter 2, we discovered a unique mechanism of action for metformin in HNSCC NK cells: CXCL1 inhibition. CXCL1 is a neutrophil recruiting chemokine expressed mainly by macrophages and mast cells and circulated at low levels during normal conditions.^{150–} ¹⁵² These neutrophils are usually recruited in response to microbial infections.¹⁵⁰ Underexpression of CXCL1 and lack of recruitment causes sepsis, while overexpression and crowding of neutrophils leads to tissue damage.¹⁵⁰ CXCL1 can bind to two receptors: CXCR1 and CXCR2. Both are highly expressed on neutrophils and NK cells.¹⁵³ All chemokines can also bind to the Duffy antigen/Chemokine Receptor (DARC), which can nullify the chemokine.¹⁵⁴ Interestingly, CXCR1 is not expressed in mice and normally leads to bursting after activation in neutrophils in humans.¹⁵⁵ CXCR2, on the other hand, promotes proliferation of neutrophils and when mutated constitutively activates CXCL1 secretion.¹⁵⁶ CXCR1 mutations do not change CXCL1 secretion.¹⁵⁶

Expression of CXCL1 and CXCR2 has been formerly investigated in cancer. Overexpression of CXCL1 can encourage cancer neoplasms, migration, angiogenesis, and metastasis.^{156–158} In breast cancer, silencing CXCL1 expression by tumor associated macrophages reduced incidences of metastasis.¹⁵⁸ In melanocytes, knocking in CXCL1 increased cancer growth.¹⁵⁶ In HNSCC, high CXCL2 was correlated with a positive prognosis while CXCL1 and CXCL8 (both ligands of CXCR2) were associated with poor outcomes.¹⁵⁹

CXCR2 is known to activate JAK/STAT and mTOR. These activations further downstream cause transcription of more CXCL1, which can cause an autocrine loop.¹⁵⁵

54

JAK/STATs and mTOR can increase tumor cell growth, which may explain why CXCL1 may be beneficial to the tumor itself.¹⁶⁰ What is unknown is how CXCL1 may be changing NK cell activation. Metformin is known to inhibit similar pathways to those that CXCR2 activates (**Figure 3.1**)



Figure 3.1: Pathways activated by CXCR2 binding of CXCL1. Figure created in Biorender

In this chapter, we explore how CXCL1 is modulated in HNSCC by metformin and what mechanistic role it plays in NK cell activation. This information can further lead to honing therapeutics for combination with current therapies to potentially improve patient outcomes.

Section 3.2 – Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Human Samples

Peripheral blood and serum were obtained from patients from the phase 2 clinical trial "Phase II investigation of adjuvant combined cisplatin and radiation with pembrolizumab in resected head and neck squamous cell carcinoma" (NCT02641093) at the University of Cincinnati, University of Louisville, University of Michigan, Medical Center of South Carolina, and MD Anderson Cancer Center. Key eligibility criteria for patient inclusion on trial were confirmation by tissue biopsy of locally advanced HNSCC that was resectable. Key exclusion criteria included metastatic disease, or nasopharyngeal carcinoma as the primary tumor site. Blood samples were collected before and after 1-3 weeks of treatment with pembrolizumab prior to surgery. Peripheral blood and serum were obtained from patients from the clinical trial "Combining pembrolizumab and metformin in metastatic head and neck cancer patients" (NCT04414540) at the University of Cincinnati. Key eligibility criteria for patient inclusion on trial were confirmation by tissue biopsy of recurrent and/or metastatic HNSCC. Key exclusion criteria included known history of diabetes requiring insulin, or nasopharyngeal carcinoma as the primary tumor site. Samples were collected before treatment, 1 week after metformin treatment, and 2 weeks after addition of pembrolizumab. Additional ex vivo studies were performed on age matched peripheral blood obtained from IRB approved studies UCCI-UMB-14-01 (IRB #2014-4755) and general specimen collection protocol (IRB #2017-2137) to investigate differences in molecular and immune cell markers compared to clinical outcomes in HNSCC patients and normal healthy controls. The studies were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Cincinnati and were conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice guidelines and the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was received from all participating patients prior to enrollment.

56

3.2.2 Cell Lines

Human-derived HNSCC cell lines CAL27 and HN5 were grown and maintained in 1x DMEM high glucose (Corning), 8mM L-glutamine (Corning), 10% FBS (Omega Scientific), 1% Pen/Strep (Corning) and 1x essential amino acids (Corning). All cell lines were cultured at 37°C with 5% CO₂. Mycoplasma presence was checked every 3 months (MycoProbe, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) and no cases of contamination within these cell lines were reported as of February 2022. Cell lines were STR Profiled confirmed by Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center Cytogenics Labs in May 2020.

3.2.3 Western Blot

NK92, Cal27, UMSCC47 and HN5 cells were cultured with drug as described. Cells were collected in RIPA (0.05% sodium deoxycholate, 150nM NaCl, 50nM Tris HCL, 0.1% SDS, 1% NP-40) and protein content was analyzed by Pierce BCA kit (Thermo 23225). 50ug of protein was diluted in 1x loading buffer (SDS, bromophenol blue, 47% glycerol, Tris 0.5M pH 6.8, 0.2mM DTT-G) and heated to 90°C for 3 minutes. Prepared lysate was loaded into gradient gels (Biorad 4561093) and run at 85V for 1.5 hour in Biorad casing with a Biorad powerpack in 1x running buffer (Tris, Glycine, SDS). Gels were transferred on nitrocellulose and run at 100V on bench for 1 hour in 1x transfer buffer (Tris, Glycine). Membranes were blocked in 5% BSA in TBS for 1hr, washed, and incubated in primary diluted in 2% BSA in TBS overnight. Membranes were washed and incubated in Licor secondary (Licor 926-32211 and 925-68070) in 5% BSA in TBS for 1hr. Membranes were washed and imaged on a Licor Odyssey Clx. Images were analyzed in Image Studio Lite V 5.2.

3.2.4 Drugs

Metformin (13118) and BP-1-102 (28368) were obtained from Caymen Chemicals. Dosomorphin (S7306), Everolimus (S1120), MHY1485 (S7811), and Flubarabine (S1491) were obtained from Selleck Chemicals. Navarixin (HY-10198) was obtained from Medchem Express.

3.2.5 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

For NK cell perforin assays, NK cells were treated with drug for 24hrs, washed, and co-cultured with Cal27 cells for 4 hours. Supernatant was then collected, snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 until thawed for single use. For patient samples, undiluted plasma was added directly to ELISA. ELISA kit for perforin was obtained from ABCAM. ELISA was performed according to the manufacturer's protocol. Protocols included overnight coating of capture antibody diluted by lot number recommendation, 1hr block with 400uL 2% BSA in PBS, 2hr sample incubation at room temperature of 100uL sample (no dilution of sample was performed in these experiments), 2hr capture antibody incubation with 100uL capture antibody diluted by lot number recommendation incubation with 100uL of 1:40 dilution of stock, and 15min incubation with 100uL included TMB ELISA reagent. 50uL stop solution of in house 2N sodium sulfide was added to stop reaction before reading at 500nm wavelength on plate reader. All plates included standard curve prepared per lot number recommendation with range of 35-2000pg.

3.2.6 Statistics

An unpaired 2-tailed *t* test with Welch's correction was used for analysis between flow cytometry in controls versus HNSCC patients. A 2-tailed Student's *t* test was used to compare differences

58

between HNSCC patients before and after treatment in flow cytometry and cytokine experiments. Differences in immune cell populations between three groups were compared by one-way ANOVA with specific post-hoc contrasts. NKCA data were compared using a paired *t* test. Statistical analysis was performed in GraphPad Prism (V10). Differences between groups were considered statistically significant when P < 0.05.
Section 3.3 – Results and Discussion

Given our focus on CXCL1, we next investigated by what mechanism metformin decreases CXCL1 expression, and how that may be beneficial to NK cell activity. We first determined if HNSCC NK cells produced higher levels of CXCL1 compared to healthy patients and the effect of metformin treatment on NK cells *ex vivo*. We found that HNSCC NK cells secreted significantly more CXCL1 than normal NK cells and metformin significantly reduced CXCL1 supernatant levels in HNSCC patient-derived NK cell culture (**Figure 3.2**)



Figure 3.2: <u>Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer cells (NK) cells</u> <u>secrete more CXCL1.</u> Healthy donor and HNSCC NK cells were isolated from PBMCs and were treated for 24hrs with vehicle or metformin. Supernatant was collected and analyzed by ELISA. Analyzed by one way ANOVA. n = 10. Understanding that HNSCC NK cells had higher levels of CXCL1 led us to investigate how CXCL1 may cause dysregulation in NK Cells. We treated HNSCC patient-derived NK cells with exogenous CXCL1 and an inhibitor of the CXCL1 receptor, CXCR2, or metformin. We exposed patient-derived NK cells to Cal27 cells for 4 hours and collected supernatant for perforin analysis by ELISA. Although metformin increased perforin as expected, CXCL1 reduced NK cell perforin production. Metformin could not completely reverse CXCL1 suppression alone but the CXCR2 inhibitor alone and in combination with metformin reversed CXCL1 mediated inhibition (**Figure 3.3**).



Figure 3.3: <u>Exogenous CXCL1 reverses metformin activation</u>. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer (NK) cells derived from PBMCs were treated with 50ng CXCL1, 12mM metformin, or 10nM CXCR2i (navarixin) and subjected to an NKCA against Cal27 target cells. Cells were analyzed by flow and analyzed by one way ANOVA. n = 8.

Metformin and CXCL1 could be affecting NK cells in opposing pathways. To determine what those pathways could be, we investigated pathways known to be affected by both metformin and CXCL1. pSTAT3 and mTOR are known to be increased by activation of the CXCR2 receptor, and mTOR activation can inhibit pSTAT1 expression. Metformin is also hypothesized to inhibit pSTAT3 and mTOR in NK cells. Therefore, we collected HNSCC patient-derived NK cells treated with metformin, CXCL1, or CXCR2i (navaxarin) and analyzed by western blot analysis (**Figure 3.4**). We observed an increase in pSTAT1 with metformin treatment, but CXCL1 did not reverse pSTAT1 expression with metformin or change it from baseline. However, metformin reduction of pSTAT3 was reversed by exogenous CXCL1.



Figure 3.4: Metformin increases pSTAT1 and decreases pSTAT3 while CXCL1 increases pSTAT3. (A) Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer (NK) cells were treated with metformin, 50ng CXCL1, or 10uM CXCR2i (navarixin) for 24hrs and collected for lysates analyzed by western blot analysis. (B) Quantification of western bands. We hypothesized that metformin increases pSTAT1 and reduces pSTAT3, while exogenous CXCL1 overcomes pSTAT3 inhibition. This increase in pSTAT3 could lead to NK cell dysfunction. We also hypothesized that CXCL1 was increasing mTOR, increasing CXCL1 production and reducing pSTAT1. **Figure 3.5** is a visual of our proposed pathway.



Figure 3.5: <u>Proposed mechanism of action for metformin.</u> Metformin increases pSTAT1, which in turn increases perforin production. mTOR and pSTAT3 inhibition by metformin decrease negative effects on natural killer (NK) cells and breaks the autocrine loop of CXCL1 secretion. Figure created in biorender.

AMPK is known to be upregulated in response to metformin, but studies have indicated that NK cells may be activated independent of AMPK with metformin treatment.¹³¹ To determine if this trend is followed in HNSCC NK cells, we treated HNSCC patient-derived NK cells with vehicle, metformin, or AMPK inhibitor dorsomorphin and analyzed perforin production after 4 hours of

exposure to Cal27 cells. (**Figure 3.6**). Inhibiting AMPK did not change basal perforin or perforin increased by metformin.



Figure 3.6: <u>Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer (NK) cells do not</u> <u>require AMPK activation for metformin induced perforin production.</u> HNSCC NK cells were treated with vehicle, metformin, or 10uM AMPK inhibitor (Dosomorphin) for 24hrs, washed, and co-cultured with Cal27 cells for 4hrs. Supernatant was collected for ELISA and analyzed by one way ANOVA. n = 5.

AMPK activation in turn inhibits mTOR although metformin can also inhibit mTOR directy. Given AMPK did not impact metformin induced perforin, we determined if mTOR inhibition was necessary. We treated HNSCC patient-derived NK cells with an mTOR inhibitor (everolimus) or

activator (MHY 1485), exposed cells to Cal27s for 4 hours,. Inhibiting mTOR enhanced perforin production similar to metformin (**Figure 3.7**) but the combination did not increase perforin over either agent alone. Interestingly, mTOR activation did not result in suppression of perforin.



Figure 3.7: <u>mTOR inhibition enhances perforin production.</u> Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer (NK) cells were treated with vehicle, metformin, 10uM mTOR inhibitor (Everolimus), or 10uM mTOR activator (MHY1485) for 24hrs, washed, and co-cultured with Cal27 cells for 4hrs. Supernatant was collected for ELISA and analyzed by one way ANOVA. n =5.

Now that we had investigated two pathways popularly explored by metformin studies, we turned to downstream pathways affected by metformin observed in our western blot analysis (Figure 3.4). As pSTAT1 can modulate perforin production, we first treated HNSCC patient-derived NK cells with vehicle, 12nM Metformin, 50ng CXCL1, or fludarabine which at 10nM is a pSTAT1 inhibitor.¹⁶¹ When co-cultured with Cal27 cells, pSTAT1-inhibited NK cells had lower perforin that could be rescued to baseline by metformin (**Figure 3.8**).



Figure 3.8 <u>pSTAT1 is involved in metformin induced perforin production.</u> Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer (NK) cells were treated with vehicle, metformin, or 10uM pSTAT1i Fludarabine) for 24hrs, washed, and co-cultured with Cal27 cells for 4hrs. Supernatant was collected for ELISA and analyzed by one way ANOVA. n = 5.

We next determined a potential role for pSTAT3 inhibition for metformin-mediated activation and CXCL1 suppression of perforin. HNSCC NK cells were treated with vehicle, 12mM metformin, 50ng CXCL1, or 10uM pSTAT3 inhibitor BP-1012 and co-cultured with Cal27 cells. NK cells treated with a pSTAT3 inhibitor had no effect on perforin at baseline, but STAT3 inhibition was

able to rescue CXCL1 mediated suppression of perforin both alone or in presence of metformin (Figure 3.9).



Figure 3.9: <u>pSTAT3 is involved in CXCL1 overcoming metformin induced perforin production.</u> Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer (NK) were treated with vehicle, metformin, or 10uM pSTAT3i 24hrs, washed, and co-cultured with Cal27 cells for 4hrs. Supernatant was collected for ELISA and analyzed by one way ANOVA. n = 5.

Now that we had established supporting evidence for our proposed interaction of metformin with CXCL1, we asked how metformin was reducing CXCL1 secretion. We hypothesized that inhibiting mTOR and pSTAT3 in combination would result in a similar reduction of CXCL1 as metformin. We treated HNSCC NK cells with vehicle, 12mM metformin, 50ng CXCL1, 10uM everolimus, or 10uM BP-1-102 for 24hr, washed the cells, and collected supernatant after 24 additional hours. pSTAT3 or mTOR inhibition alone did not reduce CXCL1,

but a combination decreased levels down to those similar of metformin even in the presence of CXCL1 (**Figure 3.10**).



Figure 3.10: <u>Metformin reduces CXCL1 through mTOR and pSTAT3.</u> Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC) natural killer (NK) cells were isolated from PBMCs and treated with CXCL1, metformin, 10uM mTORi (everolimus), or 10uM pSTAT3i (BP-1-102) for 24hrs, washed, and plated in fresh media. After 24hrs, supernatant was collected for ELISA. Analyzed by one way ANOVA. n = 5.

Now that we had mechanistic data, we asked how this could be translated into patients. We took plasma from patients enrolled in the clinical trial "Combining pembrolizumab and metformin in metastatic head and neck cancer patients" (NCT04414540) and probed for CXCL1 by ELISA (**Figure 3.11**). Samples were collected from patients at 3 time points: (1) pre-treatment, (2) post-metformin only, and (3) post-metformin and pembrolizumab combination (week 4). Metformin

treatment reduced circulating CXCL1 as expected, but this decrease was not retained through pembrolizumab treatment.



Figure 3.11: <u>CXCL1 is decreased in metformin treated patients.</u> Patient plasma pre and post metformin and post pembrolizumab plus metformin (Week 4) were subjected to CXCL1 ELISA. Analyzed by paired One-Way ANOVA. n = 5.

After observing this change with pembrolizumab treatment, we hypothesized that pembrolizumab increased CXCL1 in patients. We took plasma from the clinical trial "Adjuvant Cisplatin and radiation with pembrolizumab in resected head and neck squamous cell carcinoma" (NCT02641093) and probed for CXCL1 by ELISA (**Figure 3.12**). There was a significant increase in CXCL1 post-pembrolizumab, but when we divided patients out into responders and non-responders, non-responders accounted for the increase. Pre-treatment CXCL1 had no prognostic value (data not shown).





Section 3.4 – Summary

CXCL1 is a neutrophil recruiting cytokine that we identified as being significantly downregulated by metformin. We determined that CXCL1 is nearly 3-fold higher in HNSCC patients than age matched patients, but that metformin could bring CXCL1 levels down to normal baseline. We found that exogenous CXCL1 can reverse metformin activation, but addition of a CXCR2 inhibitor rescued metformin's effects. We chose to investigate STATs, which have diverse effects on NK cell function. Metformin increases pSTAT1 and decreases pSTAT3, while CXCL1 increased pSTAT3. Exogenous CXCL1 was capable of overcoming metformin's ability to decrease pSTAT3. Utilizing a series of inhibitors and measuring cytotoxicity and perforin production, we found that metformin induced perforin secretion is pSTAT1 dependent while CXCL1 ability to overcome metformin induced perforin is pSTAT3 and mTOR dependent. We combined pSTAT3 and mTOR inhibitors to determine if this inhibition by metformin is what causes CXCL1 reduction, and indeed observed a significant decrease in CXCL1 in response to mTOR and pSTAT3 inhibition in the presence of CXCL1. Our experiments support that metformin activates NK cells by activating pSTAT1 and inhibiting pSTAT3, which in turn reduces CXCL1. CXCL1 is also capable of causing an autocrine loop, and metformin can reduce this CXCL1 production and loop by inhibiting both pSTAT3 and mTOR.

Finally, we used patient plasma from two clinical trials: NCT04414540 and NCT02641093. NCT02641093 samples were obtained from patients pre- and postpembrolizumab treatment. Although there was no significant difference pre- and post-treatment in CXCL1 plasma levels, there was a significant increase in CXCL1 post-treatment in pembrolizumab non-responders. NCT0441540 collected samples pre-treatment, post-metformin treatment, and post-metformin plus pembrolizumab treatment. CXCL1 was decreased by metformin as expected, but pembrolizumab began to increase plasma levels of CXCL1. Therefore, it might not be beneficial to add metformin alone to pembrolizumab treatment to

increase responses. However, this study only has a small sample size (n = 4) at the time of writing. Metformin was an excellent tool to elucidate new ways to activate NK cells. Potential new therapeutics proposed from this study will be discussed in Chapter 4.

Chapter IV: Discussion and Future Directions

Copyright notice – Portions of this chapter include information and figures from the following Open Access Article: Crist M, Yaniv B, Palackdharry S, Lehn MA, Medvedovic M, Stone T, Gulati S, Karivedu V, Borchers M, Fuhrman B, Crago A, Curry J, Martinez-Outschoorn U, Takiar V, Wise-Draper TM. Metformin Increases Natural Killer Function in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma through CXCL1. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer*. Accepted September 30th, 2022. DOI: 10.1136/jitc-2022-005632

Section 4.1 – Summary

The clinical trial first cited in this thesis explored metformin as a potential therapeutic in HNSCC, and here we have found that NK cells are significant contributors to immune-oncologic activity. NK cells were more dramatically impacted than T cells outside of T_(EM) cells, therefore we chose to further explore NK cell activation by metformin. Restoration of NK cell function is of emerging interest in cancer immunotherapy.¹⁶² Patients with HNSCC often have impaired tumor immune surveillance, highlighted by increased quantities of regulatory T cells (T_{reg}) in the TME and impaired functions of T cells, NK cells, and NKT cells.¹⁰³ NK cells play a pivotal role in the antitumor innate immune response requiring strong stimulatory signaling by means of activating receptors that recognize stress-induced ligands on the surface of target cells. Immunotherapies designed to increase NK cell functionality have had mixed results, including an antibody to target the killer immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR).¹⁶³ Here we report that patients with HNSCC have lower circulating subpopulations of NK cells with reduced functional capacity and expression of NKG2D receptors, which can be partially restored by metformin treatment. Importantly, circulating NK and NKT cells were reduced in our cohort of HNSCC patients. These NK cells exhibited reduced IFN-y secretion, indicative of suppressed functionality. While insufficient NK cell activity in cancer is thought to be modulated by immunosuppressive mediators such as activation of certain STAT pathways, the correct balance of pathway activation has not yet been elucidated.¹⁶⁴ What is clear is that a reduction in NK cells is an indicator of poor survival in patients with advanced stage HNSCC, and future therapeutics

should target NK cells both directly and indirectly by impacting cytokine and chemokine balance.⁸⁷

Metformin has been observed to be directly toxic to tumor cells mostly through AMPK activation and mTOR inhibition, but few studies have evaluated the anti-tumorigenic immune response to metformin in solid tumors in patients from clinical trials.¹³⁷ In our study, although there is no overall difference in white blood cell count (WBC) or absolute lymphocyte count (ALC) after metformin treatment, there was a larger population of T_{EM} cells after metformin treatment. Metformin also partially restored circulating NK and NKT cell populations with increasing expression of NKG2D back to levels seen in healthy controls. Analysis of the cytokine-profiles of patient serum suggested activated anti-tumor activity, highlighted by increasing IL-2 and TNF- α . However, given the paucity of patient samples and that most patients did well on clinical trial NCT02325401 (1-year OS and PFS were 90%) and survival data are not yet available for NCT02083692, we were unable to elaborate on whether metformin induced effects are correlated with improved survival in this study.¹³⁸

Metformin activates AMPK which in turn reduces mTOR, a pathway upregulated and targeted in cancer cells but also important to maturation and function of immune cells.¹³⁷ Metformin has also been identified as a direct inhibitor of mTOR and pSTAT3. pSTAT3 upregulation is a negative prognostic factor in many solid tumors, and negatively regulates NK cell functions.^{164,165} A recent publication indicated that mTORC1 inhibition by everolimus decreases NK cell maturation in peripheral NK cells in breast cancer.¹⁶⁶ The impact on tumor infiltrating cells was not explored and they found that despite lower maturation, NK cells had increased cytotoxic activity when mTOR is inhibited. Here, we also show in an *ex vivo* setting, metformin can rescue cytokine release and cytotoxicity of suppressed PBMCs and tumor infiltrating NK cells and that metformin mediated NK cellular cytotoxicity is dependent on mTOR inhibition but independent of AMPK.

RNA-seq analysis of metformin treated HNSCC patient-derived NK cells revealed potential alterations of pathways outside of AMPK. Interestingly, metformin significantly downregulated CXCL1, which is normally activated by pSTAT3 as well as NF κ B and mTOR, in NK cells.¹⁶⁷ CXCL1 is a neutrophil recruiting chemokine that has been implicated as a negative prognosis factor in many cancers and is highly expressed by CD56dim NK cells. CXCL1 may recruit NK cells to a tumor site, but continued exposure results in increased pSTAT3 and NFkB, which can ultimately lead to exhaustion of NK cells.⁹⁴ As expected, metformin treatment inhibited pSTAT3 but also activated pSTAT1. Although increased pSTAT3 can lead to exhaustion of NK cells, exhaustion can be reversed by pSTAT1 activation.⁹⁴ Addition of exogenous CXCL1 reversed metformin mediated pSTAT3 inhibition and ablated metformin induced cytotoxicity supporting a role for CXCL1 as an important inhibitor of NK cell cytotoxicity through pSTAT3. Given metformin induced NK cellular cytotoxicity was mTOR dependent, it is possible that pSTAT1 activation occurs indirectly by mTOR inhibition or possibly directly by activating a STAT1 phosphorylase, as metformin is known to directly inhibit mTOR independent of AMPK.^{94,168} CXCL1 inhibition by metformin could be reversed by both mTOR and pSTAT3 inhibition, indicating those pathways as related to possible NK cell dysfunction. Inhibiting these pathways at the source of CXCL1 activation using a CXCR2 inhibitor recovered metformin induced activation, indicating CXCR2 inhibitors could help activate dysfunctional cells.

Section 4.2 – Strengths and Weaknesses

The studies in this thesis are unique in several ways. RNA-seq with metformin treat NK cells identified a unique potential pathway of metformin, CXCL1. We used several inhibitors to support a previously undiscovered mechanism of action of metformin in HNSCC. We also had use of patient samples from clinical trials.

This study does have some limitations. NK cytotoxicity in response to metformin, CXCL1, and CXCR2 inhibitors has not yet been analyzed in a systemic context but was achieved as closely as possible with the ex vivo tumor infiltrating NK cells and tumor cell co-culture models. HPV status was not always matched when combining patient NK cells and HNSCC cell lines but given NK cells do not rely on MHC-1 and it has been previously shown there is no discernable phenotypical difference between HPV+ and HPV- NK cells, and we have shown matched patient NK cells and tumor cells produced similar results, matching likely was not a factor in cytotoxicity results. Patient numbers were low in some studies due to availability of samples, but use of primary NK cells for *ex vivo* NK studies with metformin is unique.¹⁸⁵ HNSCC patients are not homozygous and do not follow a set, normalized trend. This can cause a small sample size potentially represent a small portion of HNSCC patients, and not the overall cohort. It would be more relevant to use knockout models of our pathways to confirm their role, but knockouts in primary NK cells are difficult and still a work in progress in our lab. Although we used perforin as a measure of cytotoxicity mechanism, there are several ways NK cells can exert cytotoxicity that were not explored here. Future studies should look at NKG2D, a marker of activation, and Fas, a ligand for cytotoxicity.

Section 4.3 – Future Studies and Directions

Section 4.3.1 – CXCR2 inhibitors and Immunotherapy

Our study has shown that CXCL1 negatively impacts NK cell activation by metformin in HNSCC. We propose that inhibiting the receptor of CXCL1, CXCR2, could aid in recovering NK cell activity. Both inhibiting and activating CXCR2 and CXCR1 have been proposed and studied in solid tumors. CXCR2 and CXCR1 are migration activating receptors, therefore it has been debated whether increasing these receptors will inhibit activation or positively increase migration to the tumor.¹⁵¹

CXCR2 inhibition has been studied in lung, prostate, ovarian, and breast cancer models. In lung cancer mouse models, systemic CXCR2 inhibition decreased angiogenesis and tumor growth, but did not improve survival.^{169,170} In prostate and ovarian cancers, VEGF and vascularization was decreased.^{170,171} In pancreatic cancer mouse models, systemic inhibition of CXCR2 or CXCR2 combined with PD-1 antibodies decreased metastasis but did not significantly increase survival.^{172,173} In breast cancer, CXCR2 small molecule inhibitors reduced growth of mammospheres derived from patients in combination with immunotherapy and radiation.¹⁷⁴ HNSCC and renal cancer cells also had decreased proliferation when exposed to a dual CXCR1/CXCR2 inhibitor, and a mouse model showed decreased macrophage trafficking that improved NK cell transfer.^{175,176}

CXCR2 inhibition has been less interrogated in patients. CXCR2 plays a critical role in wound healing, and inhibitors have been implicated in decreasing spinal injury healing and recovery from lung infections.^{155,177} One inhibitor, AZD5068, is in clinical trials for prostate cancer (NCT03177187). In breast cancer, a window of opportunity trial utilized a dual CXCR2/CXCR1 inhibitor and found it safe, but outcome-based trials have not been proposed.¹⁷⁸ CXCR2 inhibition has not been studied in head and neck cancer, but clinical trials adoptively transferring T cells, stem cells, and NK cells with increased CXCR2 receptors are in progress

within melanoma and leukemia.^{151,179} Migration to the tumor seems to be improved in early studies, but these knock-ins lose their CXCR2 receptors once in the tumor.¹⁷⁹ Therefore, CXCR2 may initially help with migration but negatively affect activity once migration occurs. No adoptive transfer studies of these cells have been completed in HNSCC.

Since NK cells have an autocrine loop of CXCL1, it may be beneficial to simply adoptively transfer healthy NK cells which do not produce high levels of CXCL1 compared to HNSCC NK cells. NK cells have garnered interest for adoptive transfer because they seemly do not need HLA matched and can have 'off the shelf' potential.^{180,181} Cells could be expanded from a healthy donor, frozen, and reanimated for patient transfer when needed. These healthy transfers have been successful in leukemia, and clinical trials are active for solid tumors.¹⁸¹ Additionally, NK immortal cell line NK92 has been evaluated for safety for adoptive transfer.^{182,183} These cells have been deemed safe by a phase I clinical trial and further studies are in progress.¹⁸³ However, it is unclear how long these unaltered cells can last in patients and if they will become dysfunctional once exposed to the tumor environment.

Knock down CXCR2 NK cells have not been reported in literature at the time of this dissertation. We believe studying CXCR2 specific knockdown NK cells in primary and mouse models will help us further elucidate how this pathway could be therapeutic for patients.

Section 4.3.2 – Basic Science Directions

There is still much unknown about the mechanism of CXCL1/CXCR2 in NK cells. It is not clear why CXCL1 is the most significantly downregulated cytokine by metformin when many are affected by the JAK/STAT and mTOR axis. It could be that CXCR2 receptor activation is subsequently promoting other pathways involved in NK cell activation that overlap with metformin. Deep analysis, such as RNA-seq on NK cells treated with CXCR2 inhibition or that have CXCR2 knocked down, could reveal additional pathways CXCR2 impacts in the specific cell type.

CXCR2 has several ligands. CXCL2, 3, 5, and 6 and 8 are all ligands of CXCR2. All of these are increased on an RNA level in HNSCC tumors and 1,2,3, and 8 were all poor prognosis factors.¹⁵⁹ How these are altered in patients and if they change NK cell activation was not addressed in this thesis. Continued research on if these ligands also change NK cell response to the tumor could be valuable, especially in bolstering support for inhibiting the CXCR2 receptor instead of individual chemokines.

There has not been a CXCR2 knockout mouse model for head and neck cancer. It is unclear how a systemic knockout versus an NK cell specific knockout could change response to the tumor. A partner lab has an established HNSCC mouse model that utilizes MOC-1 tumor cells in either the flank or cheek of B6/C57 mice.¹⁸⁴ We have reported that these models do have elevated CXCL1 (**Appendix Figure 3**). These could be sufficient models to study CXCL1 in HNSCC. Future studies will establish a mouse model to test CXCL1 inhibition in preclinical mouse models and help determine how it could benefit the outcome for HNSCC.

Section 5.3.4 - Clinical Directions

We have concerns about CXCR2 inhibitor's impact on overall safety for patients. HNSCC patients are immunocompromised and impairing their ability to clear lung infections could be deadly. In addition, these patients are older on average and more prone to injuries. It would not be beneficial to inhibit neutrophil trafficking with this risk.

Before going through effort to target CXCR2, we will first need to determine if normal NK cell transfer in patients would be sufficient. These NK cells do not secrete CXCL1 in the abundance that HNSCC patients do, so they could prevent activation of the CXCL1 autocrine loop. However, HNSCC cancer cells do secrete CXCL1. It is unclear if normal NK cells would become dysfunctional once transferred to the patient. In future studies, we will expose normal patient NK cells to CXCL1 for an extended time and test functionality and CXCL1 secretion to determine if these cells become dysfunctional and if they begin the autocrine loop. We will also co-culture the cells with HNSCC tumor cell lines to determine if exposure to tumor cells can cause these normal cells to behave like HNSCC NK cells. We will analyze functionality by NKCA, IFNy, and perforin release.

Genetic alteration of NK cells is gaining popularity. CAR-NK cells are in production in many labs and there are 42 active studies on ClinicalTrials.gov at the time of writing determining the safety of these genetically mutated cells. In preliminary data, we have knocked out CXCR2 using CRISPR/Cas9 technology in normal NK primary cells. Confirmation of this knockdown and data can be found in the appendix (**Appendix Figures 4,5**).

Exposing normal cells to CXCL1 for 5 days slightly reduced activity. Knocking down CXCR2 in these cells protected them from this dysfunction. Interestingly, CXCR2 knockdown cells were significantly more active than their scrambled counterparts. We plan to repeat this experiment with more normal patients and complete the knockdown in HNSCC primary cells. We could eventually use expanded normal patient NK cells with CXCR2 KO to transfer into

patients, allowing for an 'off the shelf' NK cell therapy. To potentially avoid HLA mismatch, which has not been implicated as a problem in NK cell transfer, we also want to knockdown HNSCC cells to determine if they can recover to normal cell activity.

We also found that in patient plasma, pembrolizumab non-responders had higher CXCL1 post-treatment. Metformin did not reverse this increase. It could be possible to pair these CXCR2 KO NK cells with pembrolizumab to increase response rates if adoptive therapy is not enough on its own.

Section 4.3 – Conclusions

Metformin has proven to be a powerful tool for elucidating how NK cells can be activated by balancing several deactivating and activating signals within the cell. NK targeted studies have failed to achieve high and sustained NK activity.⁹¹ We have determined that NK cell activation can be achieved by pSTAT1 activation by metformin, but can be reversed by errant pSTAT3 and mTOR, both of which are activated by NFkB dependent cytokines such as CXCL1. Many immunotherapies increase these NFkB dependent cytokines, and in turn increase both pSTAT3 and pSTAT1. Further studies are needed to determine how pSTAT1 can be increased independent of pSTAT3, and how this balance impacts NK cell functionality and vitality especially given the variable impact of metformin in different cell types and other systemic consequences.¹³⁷ Importantly, blocking the CXCL1 receptor, CXCR2, restores NK cell activity. Combining a CXCR2 inhibitor, which would reduce activity of pathways that inhibit NK cell activity, with immunotherapies that increase positive pathways could be useful for future head and neck cancer treatments.

Bibliography

- 1. What Is Cancer? NCI. Accessed November 21, 2022. https://www.cancer.gov/about-cancer/understanding/what-is-cancer
- 2. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2020;70(1):7-30. doi:10.3322/CAAC.21590
- 3. Johnson DE, Burtness B, Leemans CR, Lui VWY, Bauman JE, Grandis JR. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Nat Rev Dis Prim 2020 61*. 2020;6(1):1-22. doi:10.1038/s41572-020-00224-3
- 4. Ferlay J et al. Estimating the global cancer incidence and mortality in 2018: GLOBOCAN sources and methods. *Int J Cancer*. Published online 2018.
- 5. Bray F et al. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer Clin*. Published online 2018.
- 6. Ferlay J et al. Global Cancer Observatory: Cancer Today. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer. *IARC*.
- 7. Johnson DE, Burtness B, Leemans CR, Lui VWY, Bauman JE, Grandis JR. Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Nat Rev Dis Prim 2020 61*. 2020;6(1):1-22. doi:10.1038/s41572-020-00224-3
- 8. Mehanna H et al. Prevalence of human papillomavirus in oropharyngeal and nonoropharyngeal head and neck cancer–systematic review and meta-analysis of trends by time and region. *Head Neck*. 2013;35:747-755.
- 9. Pulte, D. & Brenner H. Changes in survival in head and neck cancers in the late 20th and early 21st century: a period analysis. *Oncologist*. 2010;15:994-1001.
- 10. International Agency for Research on Cancer. List of Classifications by cancer sites with sufficient or limited evidence in humans. *IARC*. Published online 2020.
- 11. Blot WJ et al. Smoking and drinking in relation to oral and pharyngeal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 1988;48:3282-3287.
- 12. Zhang LW et al. Incidence and mortality trends in oral and oropharyngeal cancers in China, 2005–2013. *Cancer Epidemiol*. 2018;57:120-126.
- 13. Leon X et al. Second, third, and fourth head and neck tumors. A progressive decrease in survival. *Head Neck*. 2012;34:1716-1719.
- 14. Gillison, Maura L., Chaturvedi A. K., Anderson, W.F. FC. Epidemiology of human papillomavirus-positive head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *J Clin Oncol*. 2015;33:3235-3242.
- 15. Al VLJ et. Human papillomavirus-associated cancers United States, 2008–2012. *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep.* 2016;65:661-666.
- 16. Tumban E. A Current Update on Human Papillomavirus-Associated Head and

Neck Cancers. Viruses. 2019;11(10). doi:10.3390/V11100922

- 17. Lee N.C. J. et al. Patterns of failure in high-metastatic node number human papillomavirus-positive oropharyngeal carcinoma. *Oral Oncol.* 2018;85:35-39.
- 18. Faraji F, Eisele DW FC. Emerging insights into recurrent and metastatic human papillomavirus-related oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *Laryngoscope Investig Otolaryngoly*. 2017;2(1):10-18.
- 19. de Carvalho AC, Perdomo S, dos Santos W, et al. Impact of genetic variants in clinical outcome of a cohort of patients with oropharyngeal squamous cell carcinoma. *Sci Reports 2020 101*. 2020;10(1):1-12. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-66741-z
- 20. Powell SF, Vu L, Spanos WC, Pyeon D. cancers The Key Differences between Human Papillomavirus-Positive and-Negative Head and Neck Cancers: Biological and Clinical Implications. Published online 2021. doi:10.3390/cancers13205206
- 21. van der Hout A. et al. Role of eHealth application Oncokompas in supporting selfmanagement of symptoms and health-related quality of life in cancer survivors: a randomised, controlled trial. *Lancet Oncol.* 2020;21:80-94.
- 22. Parke S.C et al. Identifying gaps in research on rehabilitation for patients with head and neck cancer: a scoping review. *Arch Phys Med Rehab*. 2019;100:2381-2388.
- 23. Verdonck-de Leeuw, I. M., van Nieuwenhuizen, A. & Leemans CR. The value of quality-of-life questionnaires in head and neck cancer. *Curr Opin Otolaryntology*. 2012;20:142-147.
- López F, Mäkitie A, de Bree R, Franchi A, de Graaf P, Hernández-Prera JC, Strojan P, Zidar N, Strojan Fležar M, Rodrigo JP, Rinaldo A, Centeno BA FA. Qualitative and Quantitative Diagnosis in Head and Neck Cancer. *Diagnositcs*. 2021;11(9):1526.
- 25. Guizard AN, Dejardin OJ, Launay LC, Bara S, Lapôtre-Ledoux BM, Babin EB, Launoy GD LK. Diagnosis and management of head and neck cancers in a high-incidence area in France: A population-based study. *Med*. 2017;96(26):7285.
- 26. Lyhne NM, Primdahl H, Kristensen CA, et al. The DAHANCA 6 randomized trial: Effect of 6 vs 5 weekly fractions of radiotherapy in patients with glottic squamous cell carcinoma. *Radiother Oncol.* 2015;117(1):91-98. doi:10.1016/J.RADONC.2015.07.004
- 27. Bledsoe TJ, Park HS, Stahl JM, et al. Hypofractionated Radiotherapy for Patients with Early-Stage Glottic Cancer: Patterns of Care and Survival. *J Natl Cancer Inst*. 2017;109(10). doi:10.1093/JNCI/DJX042
- Cooper JS, Pajak TF, Forastiere AA, et al. Postoperative Concurrent Radiotherapy and Chemotherapy for High-Risk Squamous-Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. *https://doi.org/101056/NEJMoa032646*. 2004;350(19):1937-1944. doi:10.1056/NEJMOA032646

- 29. Bernier J, Domenge C, Ozsahin M, et al. Postoperative irradiation with or without concomitant chemotherapy for locally advanced head and neck cancer. *N Engl J Med*. 2004;350(19):1945-1952. doi:10.1056/NEJMOA032641
- 30. Forastiere AA, Zhang Q, Weber RS, et al. Long-term results of RTOG 91-11: a comparison of three nonsurgical treatment strategies to preserve the larynx in patients with locally advanced larynx cancer. *J Clin Oncol*. 2013;31(7):845-852. doi:10.1200/JCO.2012.43.6097
- 31. Ferris RL, Blumenschein G, Fayette J, et al. Nivolumab for Recurrent Squamous-Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. *N Engl J Med*. 2016;375(19):1856-1867. doi:10.1056/NEJMOA1602252/SUPPL_FILE/NEJMOA1602252_DISCLOSURES. PDF
- 32. Burtness B, Harrington KJ, Greil R, et al. Pembrolizumab alone or with chemotherapy versus cetuximab with chemotherapy for recurrent or metastatic squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck (KEYNOTE-048): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. *Lancet*. 2019;394(10212):1915-1928. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(19)32591-7
- 33. Saddawi-Konefka R, Simon AB, Sumner W, Sharabi A, Mell LK, Cohen EEW. Defining the Role of Immunotherapy in the Curative Treatment of Locoregionally Advanced Head and Neck Cancer: Promises, Challenges, and Opportunities. *Front Oncol.* 2021;11:3762. doi:10.3389/FONC.2021.738626/BIBTEX
- 34. Hsieh RW, Borson S, Tsagianni A, Zandberg DP. Immunotherapy in Recurrent/Metastatic Squamous Cell Carcinoma of the Head and Neck. *Front Oncol*. 2021;11:3121. doi:10.3389/FONC.2021.705614/BIBTEX
- 35. Shibata H, Saito S, Uppaluri R. Immunotherapy for Head and Neck Cancer: A Paradigm Shift From Induction Chemotherapy to Neoadjuvant Immunotherapy. *Front Oncol.* 2021;11. doi:10.3389/FONC.2021.727433
- Han Y, Liu D, Li L. PD-1/PD-L1 pathway: current researches in cancer. *Am J Cancer Res*. 2020;10(3):727. Accessed November 9, 2022. /pmc/articles/PMC7136921/
- 37. McCusker MG, Orkoulas-Razis D, Mehra R. Potential of Pembrolizumab in Metastatic or Recurrent Head and Neck Cancer: Evidence to Date. *Onco Targets Ther*. 2020;13:3047-3059. doi:10.2147/OTT.S196252
- Maude SL, Hucks GE, Seif AE, et al. The effect of pembrolizumab in combination with CD19-targeted chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells in relapsed acute lymphoblastic leukemia (ALL). *https://doi.org/101200/JCO20173515_suppl103*. 2017;35(15_suppl):103-103. doi:10.1200/JCO.2017.35.15_SUPPL.103
- 39. Heczey A, Louis CU, Savoldo B, et al. CAR T Cells Administered in Combination with Lymphodepletion and PD-1 Inhibition to Patients with Neuroblastoma. *Mol Ther*. 2017;25(9):2214-2224. doi:10.1016/J.YMTHE.2017.05.012
- 40. Rossetti R, Brand H, Gomes Lima SC, et al. Combination of genetically

engineered T cells and immune checkpoint blockade for the treatment of cancer. *Immunother Adv.* 2022;2(1):1-14. doi:10.1093/IMMADV/LTAC005

- Coma S, Funk CR, Wang S, Waller EK, Weaver DT, Pachter JA. Abstract CT045: Synergistic anti-tumor efficacy of the dual PI3K-δ/PI3K-γ inhibitor duvelisib with PD-1 blockade in solid tumor and lymphoma models. *Cancer Res*. 2020;80(16_Supplement):CT045-CT045. doi:10.1158/1538-7445.AM2020-CT045
- Mitchell TC, Hamid O, Smith DC, et al. Epacadostat Plus Pembrolizumab in Patients With Advanced Solid Tumors: Phase I Results From a Multicenter, Open-Label Phase I/II Trial (ECHO-202/KEYNOTE-037). *J Clin Oncol.* 2018;36(32):3223-3230. doi:10.1200/JCO.2018.78.9602
- 43. Abemaciclib and Pembrolizumab in Metastatic or Recurrent Head and Neck Cancer - Full Text View - ClinicalTrials.gov. Accessed November 9, 2022. https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03938337
- 44. Cirauqui B, Cohen E, Keam B, et al. 433 A phase 2 study of evorpacept (ALX148) in combination with pembrolizumab and chemotherapy in patients with advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (HNSCC); ASPEN-04. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2021;9(Suppl 2):A463-A463. doi:10.1136/JITC-2021-SITC2021.433
- 45. Rumfiled CS, Schlom J, Jochems C. Combination Therapies for HPV-Associated Malignancies. *J Clin Cell Immunol*. 2021;12(1). Accessed November 9, 2022. /pmc/articles/PMC8276916/
- 46. Aggarwal C, Prawira A, Antonia S, et al. Dual checkpoint targeting of B7-H3 and PD-1 with enoblituzumab and pembrolizumab in advanced solid tumors: interim results from a multicenter phase I/II trial. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2022;10:4424. doi:10.1136/jitc-2021-004424
- Ribas A, Medina T, Kummar S, et al. Sd-101 in combination with pembrolizumab in advanced melanoma: Results of a phase ib, multicenter study. *Cancer Discov*. 2018;8(10):1250-1257. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0280/333342/AM/SD-101-IN-COMBINATION-WITH-PEMBROLIZUMAB-IN
- 48. Hobday SB, Brody RM, Kriegsman B, et al. Outcomes Among Patients With Mucosal Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma Treated With Checkpoint Inhibitors. *JAMA Otolaryngol Neck Surg*. 2022;148(10):918-926. doi:10.1001/JAMAOTO.2022.2284
- Gutierrez M, Janku F, Tian L, et al. A phase 1/2, open-label, dose-escalation, safety and tolerability study of NC410 in subjects with advanced or metastatic solid tumors. *https://doi.org/101200/JCO20213915_supplTPS2659*. 2021;39(15_suppl):TPS2659-TPS2659. doi:10.1200/JCO.2021.39.15_SUPPL.TPS2659
- 50. INBRX-106 Combined With Pembrolizumab Shows Early Promise in Solid Tumors. Accessed October 25, 2022. https://www.targetedonc.com/view/inbrx-106-combined-with-pembrolizumab-shows-early-promise-in-solid-tumors

- 51. Niyongere S, Saltos A, Gray JE. Immunotherapy combination strategies (nonchemotherapy) in non-small cell lung cancer. *J Thorac Dis*. 2018;10(3):S433-S450. doi:10.21037/JTD.2017.12.120
- 52. CDX-1140 Demonstrates Clinical and Biological Activity in Patients with Advanced Solid Tumors in Phase 1 Dose Escalation Study | Celldex Therapeutics. Accessed November 9, 2022. https://ir.celldex.com/newsreleases/news-release-details/cdx-1140-demonstrates-clinical-and-biologicalactivity-patients
- 53. Siu LL, Rasco DW, Vinay SP, et al. METEOR-1: A phase I study of GSK3326595, a first-in-class protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (PRMT5) inhibitor, in advanced solid tumours. *Ann Oncol*. 2019;30:v159. doi:10.1093/ANNONC/MDZ244
- 54. Definition of tabelecleucel NCI Drug Dictionary NCI. Accessed October 26, 2022. https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-drug/def/792147
- 55. Karlsson-Parra A, Kovacka J, Heimann E, et al. Ilixadencel an Allogeneic Cell-Based Anticancer Immune Primer for Intratumoral Administration. *Pharm Res.* 2018;35(8). doi:10.1007/S11095-018-2438-X
- Hansen AR, Stanton TS, Hong MH, et al. INDUCE-3: A randomized, double-blind study of GSK3359609 (GSK609), an inducible T-cell co-stimulatory (ICOS) agonist antibody, plus pembrolizumab (PE) versus placebo (PL) plus PE for firstline treatment of PD-L1-positive recurrent/metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma (R/M HNSCC). https://doi.org/101200/JCO20203815_suppITPS6591. 2020;38(15_suppl):TPS6591-TPS6591. doi:10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15 SUPPL.TPS6591
- 57. Benner B, Good L, Quiroga D, et al. Pexidartinib, a Novel Small Molecule CSF-1R Inhibitor in Use for Tenosynovial Giant Cell Tumor: A Systematic Review of Pre-Clinical and Clinical Development. *Drug Des Devel Ther*. 2020;14:1693. doi:10.2147/DDDT.S253232
- 58. Chauvin J-M, Zarour HM. Open access TIGIT in cancer immunotherapy. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2020;8:957. doi:10.1136/jitc-2020-000957
- Taylor MH, Betts CB, Maloney L, et al. Safety and Efficacy of Pembrolizumab in Combination with Acalabrutinib in Advanced Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma: Phase 2 Proof-of-Concept Study. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2022;28(5):903-914. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-21-2547
- 60. Doi T, Fujiwara Y, Matsubara N, et al. Phase I study of ipatasertib as a single agent and in combination with abiraterone plus prednisolone in Japanese patients with advanced solid tumors. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol*. 2019;84(2):393-404. doi:10.1007/S00280-019-03882-7/FIGURES/3
- 61. Milhem MM, Perez CA, Hanna GJ, et al. AST-008: A novel approach to TLR9 agonism with PD-1 blockade for anti-PD-1 refractory Merkel cell carcinoma (MCC)

and cutaneous squamous cell carcinoma (CSCC). https://doi.org/101200/JCO20203815_supplTPS3164. 2020;38(15_suppl):TPS3164-TPS3164. doi:10.1200/JCO.2020.38.15_SUPPL.TPS3164

- 62. Kordbacheh F, Farah CS. Current and Emerging Molecular Therapies for Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Cancers 2021, Vol 13, Page 5471*. 2021;13(21):5471. doi:10.3390/CANCERS13215471
- 63. Curti BD, Koguchi Y, Leidner RS, et al. Enhancing clinical and immunological effects of anti-PD-1 with belapectin, a galectin-3 inhibitor. *J Immunother cancer*. 2021;9(4). doi:10.1136/JITC-2021-002371
- 64. Gogoi H, Mansouri S, Jin L. The Age of Cyclic Dinucleotide Vaccine Adjuvants. *Vaccines 2020, Vol 8, Page 453*. 2020;8(3):453. doi:10.3390/VACCINES8030453
- 65. BioNTech | Technologies for customized treatment approaches. Accessed October 26, 2022. https://www.biontech.com/int/en/home/pipeline-andproducts/pipeline.html
- 66. Seiwert TY, Haddad RI, Johnson D, et al. A Phase 2/3, Randomized, Open-Label Study of Bempegaldesleukin Plus Pembrolizumab vs. Pembrolizumab Alone in First-Line Treatment of Patients with Metastatic or Recurrent Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma with PD-L1-Expressing Tumors (PROPEL-36). Int J Radiat Oncol. 2022;112(5):e36-e37. doi:10.1016/J.IJROBP.2021.12.085
- 67. Sanchez-Vega F, Mina M, Armenia J, et al. Oncogenic Signaling Pathways in The Cancer Genome Atlas. *Cell*. 2018;173(2):321-337.e10. doi:10.1016/J.CELL.2018.03.035
- 68. Lin M, Luo H, Liang S, et al. Pembrolizumab plus allogeneic NK cells in advanced non–small cell lung cancer patients. *J Clin Invest*. 2020;130(5):2560-2569. doi:10.1172/JCI132712
- 69. Shaver KA, Croom-Perez TJ, Copik AJ. Natural Killer Cells: The Linchpin for Successful Cancer Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol*. 2021;12:1446. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2021.679117/BIBTEX
- 70. Sun JC, Lanier LL. NK cell development, homeostasis and function: parallels with CD8+ T cells. *Nat Rev Immunol 2011 1110*. 2011;11(10):645-657. doi:10.1038/nri3044
- 71. Abel AM, Yang C, Thakar MS, Malarkannan S. Natural killer cells: Development, maturation, and clinical utilization. *Front Immunol*. 2018;9(AUG):1869. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2018.01869/BIBTEX
- 72. Goh W, Huntington ND. Regulation of Murine Natural Killer Cell Development. *Front Immunol.* 2017;8(FEB). doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2017.00130
- 73. Wu Y, Tian Z, Wei H. Developmental and Functional Control of Natural Killer Cells by Cytokines. *Front Immunol.* 2017;8(AUG). doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2017.00930

- 74. Pallmer K, Oxenius A. Recognition and Regulation of T Cells by NK Cells. *Front Immunol*. 2016;7(JUN):1. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2016.00251
- 75. Niehrs A, Altfeld M. Regulation of NK-Cell Function by HLA Class II. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol*. 2020;10. doi:10.3389/FCIMB.2020.00055
- Wieczorek M, Abualrous ET, Sticht J, et al. Major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I and MHC class II proteins: Conformational plasticity in antigen presentation. *Front Immunol*. 2017;8(MAR):292. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2017.00292/BIBTEX
- Ndhlovu LC, Lopez-Vergès S, Barbour JD, et al. Tim-3 marks human natural killer cell maturation and suppresses cell-mediated cytotoxicity. *Blood*. 2012;119(16):3734-3743. doi:10.1182/BLOOD-2011-11-392951
- Marcenaro E, Augugliaro R, Falco M, et al. CD59 is physically and functionally associated with natural cytotoxicity receptors and activates human NK cellmediated cytotoxicity. *Eur J Immunol*. 2003;33(12):3367-3376. doi:10.1002/EJI.200324425
- 79. Freud AG, Keller KA, Scoville SD, et al. NKp80 Defines a Critical Step during Human Natural Killer Cell Development. *Cell Rep*. 2016;16(2):379-391. doi:10.1016/J.CELREP.2016.05.095
- 80. Michaud A, Dardari R, Charrier E, Cordeiro P, Herblot S, Duval M. IL-7 enhances survival of human CD56bright NK cells. *J Immunother*. 2010;33(4):382-390. doi:10.1097/CJI.0B013E3181CD872D
- Sanchez-Correa B, Valhondo I, Hassouneh F, et al. DNAM-1 and the TIGIT/PVRIG/TACTILE Axis: Novel Immune Checkpoints for Natural Killer Cell-Based Cancer Immunotherapy. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2019;11(6). doi:10.3390/CANCERS11060877
- 82. Sun H, Sun C. The Rise of NK Cell Checkpoints as Promising Therapeutic Targets in Cancer Immunotherapy. *Front Immunol*. 2019;10(OCT). doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2019.02354
- 83. Interleukin-1beta costimulates interferon-gamma production by human natural killer cells PubMed. Accessed November 14, 2022. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/11241284/
- Vacca P, Pietra G, Falco M, et al. Analysis of natural killer cells isolated from human decidua: evidence that 2B4 (CD244) functions as an inhibitory receptor and blocks NK-cell function. *Blood*. 2006;108(13):4078-4085. doi:10.1182/BLOOD-2006-04-017343
- 85. Grzywacz B, Kataria N, Sikora M, et al. Coordinated acquisition of inhibitory and activating receptors and functional properties by developing human natural killer cells. *Blood*. 2006;108(12):3824-3833. doi:10.1182/BLOOD-2006-04-020198
- 86. Bozzano F, Marras F, De Maria A. Natural killer cell development and maturation revisited: Possible implications of a novel distinct Lin-CD34+DNAM-

1brightCXCR4+ cell progenitor. *Front Immunol*. 2017;8(MAR):268. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2017.00268/BIBTEX

- 87. He L, Zhu HY, Qin SC, et al. Low natural killer (NK) cell counts in peripheral blood adversely affect clinical outcome of patients with follicular lymphoma. *Blood Cancer J*. 2016;6(8). doi:10.1038/BCJ.2016.67
- Pasero C, Gravis G, Granjeaud S, et al. Highly effective NK cells are associated with good prognosis in patients with metastatic prostate cancer. *Oncotarget*. 2015;6(16):14360-14373. doi:10.18632/ONCOTARGET.3965
- 89. Accomando WP, Wiencke JK, Houseman EA, et al. Decreased NK cells in patients with head and neck cancer determined in archival DNA. *Clin Cancer Res*. 2012;18(22):6147. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1008
- 90. Grivas P, Khaki AR, Wise-Draper TM, et al. Association of clinical factors and recent anticancer therapy with COVID-19 severity among patients with cancer: a report from the COVID-19 and Cancer Consortium. *Ann Oncol.* Published online March 19, 2021. doi:10.1016/j.annonc.2021.02.024
- 91. Messaoudene M, Frazao A, Gavlovsky PJ, Toubert A, Dulphy N, Caignard A. Patient's Natural Killer Cells in the Era of Targeted Therapies: Role for Tumor Killers. *Front Immunol.* 2017;8(JUN):683. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2017.00683
- Quatrini L, Mariotti FR, Munari E, Tumino N, Vacca P, Moretta L. The Immune Checkpoint PD-1 in Natural Killer Cells: Expression, Function and Targeting in Tumour Immunotherapy. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2020;12(11):1-21. doi:10.3390/CANCERS12113285
- 93. Choi C, Finlay DK. Optimising NK cell metabolism to increase the efficacy of cancer immunotherapy. *Stem Cell Res Ther*. 2021;12(1):1-10. doi:10.1186/S13287-021-02377-8/FIGURES/3
- 94. Seo H, Jeon I, Kim BS, et al. IL-21-mediated reversal of NK cell exhaustion facilitates anti-tumour immunity in MHC class I-deficient tumours. *Nat Commun 2017 81*. 2017;8(1):1-14. doi:10.1038/ncomms15776
- 95. Labani-Motlagh A, Ashja-Mahdavi M, Loskog A. The Tumor Microenvironment: A Milieu Hindering and Obstructing Antitumor Immune Responses. *Front Immunol*. 2020;11. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2020.00940
- 96. Terrén I, Orrantia A, Vitallé J, Zenarruzabeitia O, Borrego F. NK cell metabolism and tumor microenvironment. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10(SEP):2278. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2019.02278/BIBTEX
- Yu H, Kortylewski M, Pardoll D. Crosstalk between cancer and immune cells: Role of STAT3 in the tumour microenvironment. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2007;7(1):41-51. doi:10.1038/nri1995
- Bharadwaj U, Kris Eckols T, Xu X, et al. Small-molecule inhibition of STAT3 in radioresistant head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Oncotarget*. 2016;7(18):26307-26330. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.8368

- Jia L, Song Q, Zhou C, et al. Dihydroartemisinin as a Putative STAT3 Inhibitor, Suppresses the Growth of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma by Targeting Jak2/STAT3 Signaling. Sethi G, ed. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(1):e0147157. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0147157
- 100. Gotthardt D, Sexl V. STATs in NK-Cells: The good, the bad, and the ugly. *Front Immunol*. 2017;7(JAN):694. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2016.00694/BIBTEX
- 101. Chambers AM, Matosevic S. Immunometabolic Dysfunction of Natural Killer Cells Mediated by the Hypoxia-CD73 Axis in Solid Tumors. *Front Mol Biosci*. 2019;6:60. doi:10.3389/FMOLB.2019.00060/BIBTEX
- 102. Bousoik E, Montazeri Aliabadi H. "Do We Know Jack" About JAK? A Closer Look at JAK/STAT Signaling Pathway. *Front Oncol*. 2018;8:287. doi:10.3389/FONC.2018.00287/BIBTEX
- 103. Dysregulation in immune functions is reflected in tumor cell cytotoxicity by peripheral blood mononuclear cells from head and neck squamous cell carcinoma patients - PubMed. Accessed November 14, 2022. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/18547033/
- 104. Witalisz-Siepracka A, Klein K, Zdársky B, Stoiber D. The Multifaceted Role of STAT3 in NK-Cell Tumor Surveillance. *Front Immunol*. 2022;13:3540. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2022.947568/BIBTEX
- 105. Bailey CJ. Metformin: historical overview. *Diabetologia*. 2017;60(9):1566-1576. doi:10.1007/S00125-017-4318-Z
- 106. Corcoran C, Jacobs TF. Metformin. *Encycl Biomed Gerontol*. Published online May 2, 2022:424-432. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-801238-3.62141-4
- 107. Titov AA, Baker H V., Brusko TM, Sobel ES, Morel L. Metformin Inhibits the Type 1 IFN Response in Human CD4 + T Cells . *J Immunol*. 2019;203(2):338-348. doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1801651/-/DCSUPPLEMENTAL
- 108. Coyle C, Cafferty FH, Vale C, Langley RE. Metformin as an adjuvant treatment for cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol*. 2016;27(12):2184-2195. doi:10.1093/ANNONC/MDW410
- 109. Ikhlas S, Ahmad M. Metformin: Insights into its anticancer potential with special reference to AMPK dependent and independent pathways. *Life Sci*. 2017;185:53-62. doi:10.1016/J.LFS.2017.07.029
- 110. Hirsch HA, Iliopoulos D, Struhl K. Metformin inhibits the inflammatory response associated with cellular transformation and cancer stem cell growth. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2013;110(3):972-977. doi:10.1073/PNAS.1221055110
- 111. Kamarudin MNA, Sarker MMR, Zhou JR, Parhar I. Metformin in colorectal cancer: molecular mechanism, preclinical and clinical aspects. *J Exp Clin Cancer Res* 2019 381. 2019;38(1):1-23. doi:10.1186/S13046-019-1495-2
- 112. Zhao B, Luo J, Yu T, Zhou L, Lv H, Shang P. Anticancer mechanisms of

metformin: A review of the current evidence. *Life Sci*. 2020;254:117717. doi:10.1016/J.LFS.2020.117717

- 113. Park JH, Kim Y heon, Park EH, et al. Effects of metformin and phenformin on apoptosis and epithelial-mesenchymal transition in chemoresistant rectal cancer. *Cancer Sci.* 2019;110(9):2834-2845. doi:10.1111/CAS.14124
- 114. Veeramachaneni R, Yu W, Newton JM, et al. Metformin generates profound alterations in systemic and tumor immunity with associated antitumor effects. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2021;9:2773. doi:10.1136/jitc-2021-002773
- 115. Feng X, Chen W, Ni X, et al. Metformin, Macrophage Dysfunction and Atherosclerosis. *Front Immunol*. 2021;12. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2021.682853
- 116. Waldman AD, Fritz JM, Lenardo MJ. A guide to cancer immunotherapy: from T cell basic science to clinical practice. *Nat Rev Immunol 2020 2011*. 2020;20(11):651-668. doi:10.1038/s41577-020-0306-5
- 117. ElTanbouly MA, Noelle RJ. Rethinking peripheral T cell tolerance: checkpoints across a T cell's journey. *Nat Rev Immunol 2020 214*. 2020;21(4):257-267. doi:10.1038/s41577-020-00454-2
- 118. Zhang Z, Li F, Tian Y, et al. Metformin Enhances the Antitumor Activity of CD8+ T Lymphocytes via the AMPK-miR-107-Eomes-PD-1 Pathway. *J Immunol*. 2020;204(9):2575-2588. doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1901213
- 119. Kristófi R, Eriksson JW. Metformin as an anti-inflammatory agent: a short review. *J Endocrinol*. 2021;251(2):R11-R22. doi:10.1530/JOE-21-0194
- 120. Titov AA, Baker H V., Brusko TM, Sobel ES, Morel L. Metformin inhibits the type 1 interferon response in human CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol*. 2019;203(2):338. doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.1801651
- 121. Abstract G. Metformin Enhances Autophagy and Normalizes Mitochondrial Function to Alleviate Aging-Associated Inflammation. Published online 2020. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2020.04.015
- 122. Boukhaled GM, Harding S, Brooks DG. Opposing Roles of Type I Interferons in Cancer Immunity. *https://doi.org/101146/annurev-pathol-031920-093932*. 2021;16:167-198. doi:10.1146/ANNUREV-PATHOL-031920-093932
- 123. Zhang C, Yang M, Ericsson AC. Function of Macrophages in Disease: Current Understanding on Molecular Mechanisms. *Front Immunol*. 2021;12:635. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2021.620510/BIBTEX
- 124. Qing L, Fu J, Wu P, Zhou Z, Yu F, Tang J. Metformin induces the M2 macrophage polarization to accelerate the wound healing via regulating AMPK/mTOR/NLRP3 inflammasome singling pathway. *Am J Transl Res.* 2019;11(2):655. Accessed December 2, 2022. /pmc/articles/PMC6413292/
- 125. Xiong W, Sun KY, Zhu Y, Zhang X, Zhou YH, Zou X. Metformin alleviates inflammation through suppressing FASN-dependent palmitoylation of Akt. *Cell*

Death Dis 2021 1210. 2021;12(10):1-15. doi:10.1038/s41419-021-04235-0

- 126. Xiao N, Wang J, Wang T, et al. Metformin abrogates pathological TNF-αproducing B cells through mTOR-dependent metabolic reprogramming in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Elife*. 2022;11. doi:10.7554/ELIFE.74713
- 127. Yeong J, Lim JCT, Lee B, et al. High densities of tumor-associated plasma cells predict improved prognosis in triple negative breast cancer. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9(MAY):1209. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2018.01209/BIBTEX
- 128. Kräutler NJ, Suan D, Butt D, et al. Differentiation of germinal center B cells into plasma cells is initiated by high-affinity antigen and completed by Tfh cells. *J Exp Med*. 2017;214(5):1259. doi:10.1084/JEM.20161533
- 129. Matsuda-Taniguchi T, Takemura M, Nakahara T, et al. Clinical Medicine The Antidiabetic Agent Metformin Inhibits IL-23 Production in Murine Bone-Marrow-Derived Dendritic Cells. *J Clin Med*. 2021;10:5610. doi:10.3390/jcm10235610
- 130. Subhadarshani S, Yusuf N, Elmets CA. IL-23 and the Tumor Microenvironment. *Adv Exp Med Biol*. 2021;1290:89-98. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-55617-4_6
- Xia W, Qi X, Li M, et al. Metformin promotes anticancer activity of NK cells in a p38 MAPK dependent manner. *Oncoimmunology*. 2021;10(1). doi:10.1080/2162402X.2021.1995999
- Allende-Vega N, Marco Brualla J, Falvo P, et al. Metformin sensitizes leukemic cells to cytotoxic lymphocytes by increasing expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1). *Sci Reports 2022 121*. 2022;12(1):1-12. doi:10.1038/s41598-022-05470-x
- Cha JH, Yang WH, Xia W, et al. Metformin Promotes Antitumor Immunity via Endoplasmic-Reticulum-Associated Degradation of PD-L1. *Mol Cell*. 2018;71(4):606-620.e7. doi:10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2018.07.030
- 134. Brana I, Siu LL. Locally advanced head and neck squamous cell cancer: treatment choice based on risk factors and optimizing drug prescription. Ann Oncol Off J Eur Soc Med Oncol. 2012;23 Suppl 10(SUPPL. 10). doi:10.1093/ANNONC/MDS322
- 135. Georges P, Rajagopalan K, Leon C, et al. Chemotherapy advances in locally advanced head and neck cancer. *World J Clin Oncol*. 2014;5(5):966. doi:10.5306/WJCO.V5.I5.966
- Chaturvedi AK, Engels EA, Pfeiffer RM, et al. Human papillomavirus and rising oropharyngeal cancer incidence in the United States. *J Clin Oncol*. 2011;29(32):4294-4301. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.36.4596
- 137. Coyle C, Cafferty FH, Vale C, Langley RE. Metformin as an adjuvant treatment for cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Oncol*. 2016;27(12):2184-2195. doi:10.1093/annonc/mdw410
- 138. Gulati S, Desai J, Palackdharry SM, et al. Phase 1 dose-finding study of

metformin in combination with concurrent cisplatin and radiotherapy in patients with locally advanced head and neck squamous cell cancer. *Cancer*. 2020;126(2):354-362. doi:10.1002/cncr.32539

- Amin D, Richa T, Mollaee M, et al. Metformin Effects on FOXP3+ and CD8+ T Cell Infiltrates of Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Laryngoscope*. 2020;130(9):E490-E498. doi:10.1002/lary.28336
- 140. Simon Anders et al. Count-based differential expression analysis of RNA sequencing data using R and Bioconductor. *Nature*. Published online 2013. Accessed November 30, 2022. https://divtranscriptomics.com/Reading/files/nprot.2013.099.pdf
- 141. Dobin A, Davis CA, Schlesinger F, et al. STAR: ultrafast universal RNA-seq aligner. *Bioinformatics*. 2013;29(1):15-21. doi:10.1093/BIOINFORMATICS/BTS635
- 142. Harrow J, Denoeud F, Frankish A, et al. GENCODE: producing a reference annotation for ENCODE. *Genome Biol*. 2006;7 Suppl 1(Suppl 1):S4. doi:10.1186/GB-2006-7-S1-S4
- 143. Taylor J, Tibshirani RJ. Statistical learning and selective inference. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2015;112(25):7629-7634. doi:10.1073/PNAS.1507583112/ASSET/175E70F1-E6A1-4AFA-A135-7D7831BF866A/ASSETS/GRAPHIC/PNAS.1507583112FIG06.JPEG
- 144. Decreased levels of circulating regulatory NK cells in patients with head and neck cancer throughout all tumor stages PubMed. Accessed November 14, 2022. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/19661315/
- 145. Pennock ND, White JT, Cross EW, Cheney EE, Tamburini BA, Kedl RM. T cell responses: naïve to memory and everything in between. *Adv Physiol Educ*. 2013;37(4):273. doi:10.1152/ADVAN.00066.2013
- 146. Golubovskaya V, Wu L. Different subsets of T cells, memory, effector functions, and CAR-T immunotherapy. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2016;8(3). doi:10.3390/cancers8030036
- 147. (No Title).
- 148. Curry J, Johnson J, Tassone P, et al. Metformin effects on head and neck squamous carcinoma microenvironment: Window of opportunity trial. *Laryngoscope*. 2017;127(8):1808-1815. doi:10.1002/lary.26489
- 149. Vlasova-St. Louis I, Bohjanen PR. Post-transcriptional regulation of cytokine and growth factor signaling in cancer. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev*. 2017;33:83. doi:10.1016/J.CYTOGFR.2016.11.004
- Sawant K V., Poluri KM, Dutta AK, et al. Chemokine CXCL1 mediated neutrophil recruitment: Role of glycosaminoglycan interactions. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6. doi:10.1038/SREP33123
- 151. Ng YY, Tay JCK, Wang S. CXCR1 Expression to Improve Anti-Cancer Efficacy of Intravenously Injected CAR-NK Cells in Mice with Peritoneal Xenografts. Published online 2020. doi:10.1016/j.omto.2019.12.006
- 152. De Filippo K, Dudeck A, Hasenberg M, et al. Mast cell and macrophage chemokines CXCL1/CXCL2 control the early stage of neutrophil recruitment during tissue inflammation. *Blood*. 2013;121(24):4930-4937. doi:10.1182/BLOOD-2013-02-486217
- 153. Susek KH, Karvouni M, Alici E, Lundqvist A. The role of CXC chemokine receptors 1–4 on immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Front Immunol*. 2018;9:2159. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2018.02159/BIBTEX
- 154. Shen H, Schuster R, Stringer KF, Waltz SE, Lentsch AB. The Duffy antigen/receptor for chemokines (DARC) regulates prostate tumor growth. *FASEB J*. 2006;20(1):59-64. doi:10.1096/FJ.05-4764COM
- 155. Stadtmann A, Zarbock A. CXCR2: From bench to bedside. *Front Immunol*. 2012;3(AUG):263. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2012.00263/BIBTEX
- 156. Dhawan P, Richmond A. Role of CXCL1 in tumorigenesis of melanoma. *J Leukoc Biol*. 2002;72(1):9-18. doi:10.1189/JLB.72.1.9
- 157. Acharyya S, Oskarsson T, Vanharanta S, et al. A CXCL1 Paracrine Network Links Cancer Chemoresistance and Metastasis. *Cell*. 2012;150(1):165-178. doi:10.1016/J.CELL.2012.04.042
- 158. Wang N, Liu W, Zheng Y, et al. CXCL1 derived from tumor-associated macrophages promotes breast cancer metastasis via activating NF-κB/SOX4 signaling. *Cell Death Dis 2018* 99. 2018;9(9):1-18. doi:10.1038/s41419-018-0876-3
- 159. Li Y, Wu T, Gong S, et al. Analysis of the Prognosis and Therapeutic Value of the CXC Chemokine Family in Head and Neck Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Front Oncol*. 2021;10. doi:10.3389/FONC.2020.570736
- 160. Zou A, Lambert D, Yeh H, et al. Elevated CXCL1 expression in breast cancer stroma predicts poor prognosis and is inversely associated with expression of TGF-β signaling proteins. *BMC Cancer*. 2014;14(1):1-16. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-14-781/FIGURES/6
- 161. Gao Q, Liu Y, Wu Y, et al. IL-17 intensifies IFN-γ-induced NOS2 upregulation in RAW 264.7 cells by further activating STAT1 and NF-κB. *Int J Mol Med*. 2016;37(2):347-358. doi:10.3892/IJMM.2015.2433
- 162. Bald T, Krummel MF, Smyth MJ, Barry KC. The NK cell-cancer cycle advances and new challenges in NK cell-based immunotherapies. *Nat Immunol*. 2020;21(8):835. doi:10.1038/S41590-020-0728-Z
- 163. Guillerey C, Huntington ND, Smyth MJ. Targeting natural killer cells in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Immunol*. 2016;17(9):1025-1036. doi:10.1038/NI.3518

- 164. Yu H, Kortylewski M, Pardoll D. Crosstalk between cancer and immune cells: role of STAT3 in the tumour microenvironment. *Nat Rev Immunol 2007 71*. 2007;7(1):41-51. doi:10.1038/nri1995
- 165. Ikhlas S, Ahmad M. Metformin: Insights into its anticancer potential with special reference to AMPK dependent and independent pathways. *Life Sci.* 2017;185:53-62. doi:10.1016/J.LFS.2017.07.029
- 166. Amin S, Lux A, O'Callaghan F. The journey of metformin from glycaemic control to mTOR inhibition and the suppression of tumour growth. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* 2019;85(1):37-46. doi:10.1111/bcp.13780
- 167. Cabrero-De Las Heras S, Martínez-Balibrea E. CXC family of chemokines as prognostic or predictive biomarkers and possible drug targets in colorectal cancer. *World J Gastroenterol.* 2018;24(42):4738. doi:10.3748/WJG.V24.I42.4738
- 168. Sahra I Ben, Regazzetti C, Robert G, et al. Metformin, Independent of AMPK, Induces mTOR Inhibition and Cell-Cycle Arrest through REDD1. Published online 2011. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-1769
- 169. Keane MP, Belperio JA, Xue YY, Burdick MD, Strieter RM. Depletion of CXCR2 inhibits tumor growth and angiogenesis in a murine model of lung cancer. *J Immunol*. 2004;172(5):2853-2860. doi:10.4049/JIMMUNOL.172.5.2853
- 170. Jaffer T, Ma D. The emerging role of chemokine receptor CXCR2 in cancer progression. *Transl Cancer Res*. 2016;5(4):S616-S628. doi:10.21037/TCR.2016.10.06
- 171. Liu X, Peng J, Sun W, et al. G31P, an antagonist against CXC chemokine receptors 1 and 2, inhibits growth of human prostate cancer cells in nude mice. *Tohoku J Exp Med*. 2012;228(2):147-156. doi:10.1620/TJEM.228.147
- 172. Leslie J, Mackey JBG, Jamieson T, et al. CXCR2 inhibition enables NASH-HCC immunotherapy. *Gut*. 2022;71(10):2093-2106. doi:10.1136/GUTJNL-2021-326259
- 173. Steele CW, Karim SA, Leach JDG, et al. CXCR2 Inhibition Profoundly Suppresses Metastases and Augments Immunotherapy in Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Cell*. 2016;29(6):832. doi:10.1016/J.CCELL.2016.04.014
- 174. Ghallab AM, Eissa RA, El Tayebi HM. CXCR2 Small-Molecule Antagonist Combats Chemoresistance and Enhances Immunotherapy in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. *Front Pharmacol*. 2022;13:1050. doi:10.3389/FPHAR.2022.862125/BIBTEX
- Greene S, Robbins Y, Mydlarz WK, et al. Inhibition of MDSC Trafficking with SX-682, a CXCR1/2 Inhibitor, Enhances NK-Cell Immunotherapy in Head and Neck Cancer Models. *Clin Cancer Res*. 2020;26(6):1420-1431. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-19-2625
- 176. Dufies M, Grytsai O, Ronco C, et al. New CXCR1/CXCR2 inhibitors represent an effective treatment for kidney or head and neck cancers sensitive or refractory to

reference treatments. Theranostics. 2019;9(18):5332. doi:10.7150/THNO.34681

- 177. Jones M V., Levy M. Effect of CXCR2 Inhibition on Behavioral Outcomes and Pathology in Rat Model of Neuromyelitis Optica. *J Immunol Res.* 2018;2018. doi:10.1155/2018/9034695
- 178. Goldstein LJ, Perez RP, Yardley D, et al. A window-of-opportunity trial of the CXCR1/2 inhibitor reparixin in operable HER-2-negative breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Res*. 2020;22(1):1-9. doi:10.1186/S13058-019-1243-8/FIGURES/5
- 179. Kremer V, Ligtenberg M, Zendehdel R, et al. Genetic engineering of human NK cells to express CXCR2 improves migration to renal cell carcinoma. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2017;5(1). doi:10.1186/S40425-017-0275-9
- Nguyen R, Wu H, Pounds S, et al. A phase II clinical trial of adoptive transfer of haploidentical natural killer cells for consolidation therapy of pediatric acute myeloid leukemia. *J Immunother Cancer*. 2019;7(1):81. doi:10.1186/S40425-019-0564-6
- 181. Zhang L, Meng Y, Feng X, Han Z. CAR-NK cells for cancer immunotherapy: from bench to bedside. *Biomark Res 2022 101*. 2022;10(1):1-19. doi:10.1186/S40364-022-00364-6
- 182. SAMARA P, SKOPELITI M, TSIATAS ML, et al. A Cytokine Cocktail Augments the Efficacy of Adoptive NK-92 Cell Therapy Against Mouse Xenografts of Human Cancer. *Anticancer Res.* 2016;36(7).
- 183. Suck G, Odendahl M, Nowakowska P, et al. NK-92: an 'off-the-shelf therapeutic' for adoptive natural killer cell-based cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. 2016;65(4):485-492. doi:10.1007/S00262-015-1761-X/FIGURES/2
- 184. Cunningham S, McCauley S, Vairamani K, et al. FLASH Proton Pencil Beam Scanning Irradiation Minimizes Radiation-Induced Leg Contracture and Skin Toxicity in Mice. *Cancers (Basel)*. 2021;13(5):1-15. doi:10.3390/cancers13051012
- 185. Chen X, Yan B, Lou H, et al. Immunological network analysis in HPV associated head and neck squamous cancer and implications for disease prognosis. *Mol Immunol*. 2018;96:28-36. doi:10.1016/J.MOLIMM.2018.02.005

Addendum – COVID-19 and Immunotherapy in Cancer

Section A.1 – Reasoning for this addendum

The following work is adapted from a manuscript in submission. It is outside the main dissertation's scope, so it has been included as an addendum for more insight into a full project outside the thesis.

Section A.2 - Background

In early 2020 the SARS-CoV-2 virus, which causes COVID-19, became a pandemic of global concern. As of July 2022, there have been 582,600,000 cases worldwide, 92 million of those in the US [1]. COVID-19 is a respiratory disease that can present with either no symptoms or a wide range of mild to severe symptoms and has caused high rates of mortality [2]. Patients with a history of and those with active cancer infected with SARS-CoV-2 have worse disease severity and higher mortality rates than non-cancer patients [3,30-35]. Importantly, cancer patients are at particular risk for infection and death from SARS-CoV-2 due to frequent clinic visits, immunosuppression, and existing inflammation from cancer [4]. In addition, immunotherapy may potentiate immune hyperactivation leading to cytokine storm [4,30].

Cytokine storm is a disorder in which overproduction of cytokines, such as IL-6 and IL-10, cause immune-related tissue injury and sometimes death. Importantly, cytokine storm has been observed in COVID-19 patients [5,30]. Immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs), often used in several types of solid tumors, result in cytotoxic immune cell activation but have a low baseline incidence of cytokine storm (58 cases out of 80,000 patients) [6]. Activation of the NF $\kappa\beta$ pathway, a key transcription factor responsible for inflammation in cancer, can increase the risk of cytokine storm [7]. NF $\kappa\beta$ is increased in immune cells, such as T-cells and NK cells exposed to the SARS-CoV-2 spike (S) protein [8]. S protein facilitates viral fusion by binding the ACE2 receptor on the host cell and is found on the surface of the SARs-CoV-2 virus [8]. Pembrolizumab, a PD-1 inhibitor, is also known to increase NF $\kappa\beta$ in T-cells in several types of

cancer [15]. Additionally, patients who were recently treated for cancer, regardless of therapy, had higher mortality than those who were untreated [31]. Therefore, we hypothesize that continuing ICIs during COVID-19 disease could lead to an increased risk of cytokine storm and mortality (**Fig A.1**).



Figure A.1: <u>Cytokine Storm, COVID-19 disease, and Immunotherapy.</u> Many immunotherapies increase production of cytokine storm inducing cytokines, such as IL-6 and IL-10.

Although early observational studies linked ICIs to increased COVID-19 disease severity in cancer patients, subsequent investigations demonstrated that ICIs do not necessarily result in increased COVID-19 disease severity independently, and death outcomes for cancer patients can be dependent on a number of factors [9-14, 30-35, 37, 38]. However, the mechanism and direct effect of ICI treatment on PBMC cytokine release in patients with COVID-19 has only

recently been investigated for use in non-cancer patients to restore exhausted T-cells [36]. Given that ICIs are now commonly used in oncology practice, understanding any potential risk of ICIs exacerbating COVID-19 related cytokine storm would better guide treatment in this population.

Section A.3 - Materials and methods

Section A.3.1 Human samples

Peripheral blood and plasma were obtained from adult patients from the University of Cincinnati Biorepository (UCB). Additional ex vivo studies were performed on age matched peripheral blood obtained from IRB approved studies UCCI-UMB-14-01 (IRB #2014-4755), Cincinnati COVID Biorepository #2020-0329 and general specimen collection protocol (IRB #2017-2137). Adult human subjects who presented to the University of Cincinnati Medical Center between April 2020 and December 2020 with symptoms indicative of COVID-19 disease (shortness of breath, fever and/or cough) and found to be SARS-CoV-2 PCR positive were approached and those willing provided written informed consent. Samples were collected from consented patients with mild (outpatients or patients seen in the ER and sent home), moderate (admitted to the floor), or severe (admitted to the medical ICU) COVID-19 disease within 10 days of their acute presentation. The studies were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Cincinnati and were conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice guidelines and the Declaration of Helsinki. Written informed consent was received from all participating patients prior to enrollment. Additional de-identified plasma samples were obtained from Case Western Reserve's COVID-19 Biorepository under IRB STUDY20200517. Disease severity for COVID-19 is defined as follows: 0 = Outpatient, 1 = Hospitalization, 2 = Oxygen, 3 = Intubation, 4 = ICU, 5 = Death. This scale is referenced from the COVID-19 and Cancer Consortium [10].

Section A.3.2 Peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC) isolation and storage

Peripheral blood was received in ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) tubes and serum separator (SST) tubes. EDTA samples were processed to isolate PBMCs using Ficoll-Paque PLUS (GE-Healthcare Life Sciences) density gradient centrifugation. PBMCs were cryopreserved in Cryostor CS10 (Stem Cell Technologies) or Fetal Bovine serum (FBS) + 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO). SST samples were spun at 1200xg for 15 min and plasma was collected into microcentrifuge tubes stored at -80°C. Samples received from Case Western were stored at -80°C until use. All sample preparation was done within 24hrs of sample collection.

Section A.3.3 Flow cytometry for cell markers

Flow cytometry was performed on PBMCs that were thawed quickly for 2min in a 37°C water bath. Cells were then washed in PBS, stained for viability with fixable viability dye (Invitrogen), then washed with flow buffer (FB) (1x phosphate buffered saline (PBS) + 2% FBS) and fixed for 1hr at room temperature (RT) in 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA), (Electron Microscopy Sciences, Hatfield, PA) in PBS. Cells were then washed and stained with the appropriate antibodies for 15min at 4°C in the dark, washed in FB, and fixed in 2% PFA in PBS and kept at 4°C in the dark until analyzed by flow cytometry. Flow cytometry was performed using a BD Fortessa. Data were analyzed with FlowJo V10. The following antibodies were used: CD19 (HIB19, Biolegend), CD56 (5.1H11, Biolegend), CD16 (3G8, Biolegend), Live/dead (L34989,Invitrogen), CD8 (SK1, Biolegend), CD45 (HI30, Biolegend), and CD4 (A161A1, Biolegend). Populations are defined as follows: Cells were gated into live/dead and gated for CD45+. CD45+ cells were divided into CD3+/- and CD19+/-. CD3+ were gated into CD4+ and CD8+. CD3- were gated into CD16+CD56+dim, and CD16-CD56+ bright.

Section A.3.4. ELISAs

ELISA kits for IL-6, IL-8, IL-4, TNF , and INF were obtained from R&D Systems. ELISA plates were coated by using mid-adhesion 96-well plates and dilution of capture antibody indicated by lot specific dilution. Coating was allowed to adhere overnight. Capture antibody was removed and washed with PBS containing 0.05% Tween-20. Blocking buffer (PBS with 1% bovine serum albumin [ThermoFisher]) was added to wells for 1hr and washed. Samples (plasma or supernatant, undiluted) and standards diluted per lot specifications were added to wells and incubated for 2hrs at RT. Samples were washed and detection antibody diluted per lot specifications was added to each well for 2hr. Detection antibody was washed away and streptavidin diluted per lot specifications was added to wells for 20min. Streptavidin was washed off and replaced with TMB ELISA (ThermoFisher) for 10min. Stop solution of 2N sulfuric acid [Selleck Chem] was added and plate was read at 420nm wavelength.

Section A.3.5 Bulk Cytokine Analysis

Plasma or supernatant were thawed on ice and spun at 300xg for 5min. 11uL were loaded into individual wells of IsoPlexis Codeplex chips (IsoPlexis, Branford, CT) and loaded onto the Isolight machine for analysis of cytokine levels including GM-CSF, IFN-γ, IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17A, IP-10, MCP-1, MIP-1α, MIP-1β, Perforin, and TNF-α.

Section A.3.6 Spike Protein Experiments

PBMCs from Head and Neck Cancer (HNC) patients or healthy donors were thawed in 37°C water bath for 2min and added to 5mL RPMI with 10% FBS and 1% Pen/Strep. Samples were spun for 5min at 400xg and resuspend in complete RPMI with 100U/mL IL-2 (Peprotech, 200-02). Cells were then incubated overnight. Spike protein (Acros biosystems, SARS-CoV-2(COVID-19) S protein (R683A,R685A), and His Tag 100ug, Cat# SPN-C52H4, Lot# 3534b-2042F2-RA) were stored at -80°C and thawed on ice. PBMCs were exposed to 10nM spike protein at a density of 200,000 cell/mL for 20min at 37°C. Spike protein was removed by

washing, cells were resuspended in complete RPMI containing 100U/mL IL-2 and vehicle or pembrolizumab at a concentration of 20ng/mL for 24hrs. Supernatant was collected for ELISA analysis and cells were collected for western blot analysis. In experiments where SARS-CoV-2 peptide is indicated as used, the same protocol was followed with peptide from Miltenyi mimicking the alpha variant (Catalogue #130-127-844).

Section A.3.7 Western Blot Analysis

Cells were lysed in radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) buffer with 1x protease inhibitor (Thermo Scientific, Cat #78440) for 10min and analyzed for protein content by bicinchoninic acid (BCA) kit (Thermo Fisher Cat #23225). 50ug protein was loaded onto Biorad pre-cast gels and ran for 1.5hrs at 85V, transferred for 1hr at 100V, and blocked in 5% BSA in Tris-buffered saline (TBS) for 1hr. Blots were washed with TBS-T (Tris Buffered Saline + Tween 20) and NF $\kappa\beta$ (Cell Signaling, Ca t#6956), pNFKB (Cell Signaling, Cat# 3033) and Actin (Cell signaling, Cat #4970) diluted 1:1000 were added to blots overnight. Blots were washed in TBS. Licor Secondary (Cat #926-32213 and 926-68072) was added for 1hr and washed. Blots were imaged Biorad Chemidoc apparatus. Signal was obtained in Image J.

Section A.3.8 Immunotherapy treatment

PBMCs from the Cincinnati COVID-19 Repository (CCR) were thawed, washed in complete RPMI, and incubated overnight in complete RPMI with 100U/mL IL-2. 100,000 cells were plated in 100uL RPMI with 100U/mL IL-2 and 20ng/mL pembrolizumab or vehicle for 24hrs. Supernatant was collected for bulk cytokine analysis and cells were collected for flow cytometry.

Section A.3.9 Ethics statement

Samples were collected under IRB approved studies UCCI-UMB-14-01 (IRB #2014-4755), Cincinnati COVID Biorepository #2020-0329 and general specimen collection protocol (IRB #2017-2137). The studies were approved by the Institutional Review Board at the University of Cincinnati and were conducted in accordance with Good Clinical Practice guidelines and the Declaration of Helsinki. Additional de-identified plasma samples were obtained from Case Western Reserve's COVID-19 Biorepository under IRB STUDY20200517. Written informed consent was received from all participating patients prior to enrollment.

Section A.3.10 Statistical analysis

All data was analyzed in GraphPad Prism V9. One-way ANOVA was utilized were multiple data sets were used and unpaired students t-test for two data sets.

Section A.4 – Results and discussion

Section A.4.1 Cancer patients with COVID-19 disease produce inflammatory cytokines associated with cytokine storm.

Many patients with solid tumors have high levels of plasma inflammatory cytokines that promote tumor growth. For example, high levels of IL-6 have been correlated with a poor prognosis [16,17]. Cancer patients are uniquely susceptible to COVID-19, with high mortality rates, but it is unclear if pro-tumorigenic and inflammatory cytokines are altered upon infection with SARS-CoV-2. We used bulk cytokine analysis to investigate cytokine levels directly in the plasma from normal aged matched healthy patients, non-cancer patients with COVID-19, mixed cohort cancer patients, and mixed cohort cancer patients with COVID-19 (**Fig A.2**). IL-4, a cytokine with a role in T-cell and T-reg regulation, was decreased in COVID-19 and cancer patients compared to normal healthy patients (p = 0.043) [18]. Most other cytokines involved in cytokine storm, were significantly increased in patients with COVID-19 disease and cancer compared to healthy controls [19]. Interestingly, IL-10 levels were increased in those with both cancer and COVID-19, while IL-15 was increased in COVID-19 disease only and COVID-19 and cancer.



Figure A.2: Bulk analysis of plasma inflammatory cytokines. Healthy donor (n=5), COVID-19 only (n=3), mixed cohort cancer patients (n=16) and mixed cohort cancer patients with COVID-19 (n=17) plasma were analyzed by bulk cytokine analysis. Significance is P = 0.05 in a one-way ANOVA.

Section A.4.2 Pembrolizumab enhances spike protein mediated cytokine release from head and neck cancer but not healthy patient PBMCs *ex vivo*.

Although cytokines appear to be increased in patients with COVID-19 disease and cancer, it remained unclear the effect, if any, of systemic therapy on harmful cytokine production. Due to concerns that ICIs might enhance cytokine release in patients with COVID-19 and cancer, we exposed PBMCs derived from aged-matched healthy donor and head and neck cancer (HNC) patients with vehicle, spike protein (a capsid protein of SARs-CoV-2 that allows virus cellular entry by binding the ACE-2 receptor), pembrolizumab (PD-1 inhibitor), or the combination for 24, 48 or 72hrs *ex vivo*. Supernatant was collected to evaluate cytokine release (**Fig A.3**). Similar to detection in plasma from mixed cancer cohort and COVID-19 patients, spike protein alone did result in induction of IL-2 release from HNC patient PBMCs at 24hrs (**Fig A.3**). However, pembrolizumab treatment of HNC cancer patient PBMCs in combination with spike protein resulted in significantly enhanced cytokine release in several cytokines observed at various

timepoints including IL-2, IL -4, IL -6, IL -8 and IL -10 compared to control, but other cytokines were relatively unaffected. IL-8 had a significant increase upon exposure to spike protein in healthy PBMCs, but no other changes in cytokines were observed.



Figure A.3: Spike protein and pembrolizumab effect inflammatory cytokine release. HNC (A) and healthy (B) PBMCs were treated with vehicle, 20ng/mL pembrolizumab, 10ng spike protein, or both for 24, 48 or 72hrs. Supernatant was collected and analyzed by ELISA. N = 10 for HNC and n = 5 for NML. Data was analyzed by two-way ANOVA.

Section A.4.3 NFkB phosphorylation is enhanced in the presence of spike protein and pembrolizumab in HNC PBMCs.

NFκβ is a regulator of many inflammatory cytokines and activation of NFκβ causes the production of cytokines such as TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, and MCP-1, all of which can exacerbate cytokine storm [24,25]. Spike protein has been known to increase NFκβ activation [20,21]. Pembrolizumab has also been implicated in enhanced NFκβ activation due to immune activation [15]. We exposed HNC and aged matched normal patient PBMCs to vehicle, spike protein, pembrolizumab, or the combination for 24hrs and analyzed NFκβ protein levels. HNC samples exposed to both pembrolizumab and spike protein had a higher pNFκβ/NFκβ ratio compared to vehicle alone, but spike protein alone did not increase NFκβ compared to vehicle. Pembrolizumab, but not spike protein, increased pNFκβ in normal patient PBMCs (**Fig A.4**).

HNC patient PBMCs also had higher pNF $\kappa\beta$ at baseline



Figure A.4: Evaluation of NFkB levels upon treatment with spike protein and pembrolizumab. Healthy normal and HNC PBMCs were treated with vehicle, 20ng/mL pembrolizumab, 10ng spike protein, or combination for 24hrs and collected and analyzed by Western Blot analysis.

Section A.4.4 Patients with cancer and COVID-19 have increased cytokine producing

NK cells which are not changed by pembrolizumab treatment.

Given the minimal change in cytokine release detected in patients treated with PD-1 inhibitors

ex vivo, we also explored the composition of peripheral immune cells in patients with mixed

cancer cohorts and COVID-19 and potential change upon pembrolizumab treatment.

Interestingly, we found that mixed cohort cancer patients with COVID-19 (n=3) have significantly

more cytokine producing NK cells (CD56^{bright} CD16-) than non-cancer age matched COVID-19

patients (**Fig A.5**). Treatment with 20ng pembrolizumab for 24hrs *ex vivo* did not change the distribution of NK cells. Of the patients included in this study, those who died from COVID-19 complications also had, on average, higher percentages of cytokine producing NK cells (**Fig A.5**). No change in T cell populations was observed including no change in cytotoxic and helper T-cells. However, it was not clear if cytokine-producing NK cells were responsible for the release of cytokines observed in patient plasma. To simulate infection *ex vivo*, we subjected healthy or HNC PBMCs to spike protein, pembrolizumab or combination for 24 hours and determined cytokine expression in immune cell subsets by flow cytometry.



Figure A.5: Distribution of peripheral immune cell populations. PBMCs from healthy controls (n=2), COVID-19 only (n=5) or mixed cohort cancer and COVID-19 (n=3) patients were treated with vehicle or 20ng/mL Pembrolizumab for 24hrs and collected for flow cytometry (A)
Percentage of total T cells. (B) Percentage of CD+4 T cells. (C) Percentage of CD8+ T cells. (D)
Percentage of CD16+ NK cells. (E) Percentage of CD16- NK cells. (F) Percentage of CD16- NK cells divided by survival. Data (A-E) analyzed by one way ANOVA and (F) analyzed by student's t-test.

To determine if pembrolizumab would increase cytokine production in PBMCs collected from patients with COVID-19 disease, PBMCs from a mixed cohort of patients with COVID-19 with or without cancer were treated with vehicle or pembrolizumab and supernatant was analyzed by bulk cytokine analysis. There was no significant change in cytokine production of inflammatory cytokines INF, TNF, perforin, IL-6, IL-9 and IL-10 upon pembrolizumab treatment (**Fig A.6**). Other cytokines observed in patient plasma were below the level of detection in the supernatant.





Given no observable changes of cytokine release with pembrolizumab treatment of PBMCs *ex vivo*, we then analyzed patient plasma amongst a mixed cohort of cancer patients with COVID-19 disease to determine if those on ICIs had increased inflammatory cytokines compared to those on immunosuppressive or no therapy (**Fig A.7**). There was no significant change in cytokines or disease severity (see Methods), however, analysis was limited by low numbers of patients.



Figure A.7: <u>Cytokine secretion within cancer patients with COVID-19 disease.</u> (A) Disease severity (0 = Outpatient, 1 = Hospitalization, 2 = Oxygen, 3 = Intubation, 4 = ICU, 5 = Death) from Cancer and COVID-19 patients. (B) Plasma cytokine levels from mixed cohort of cancer and COVID-19 patients. Patients included were those on immunotherapy (n=1), those on immunosuppressive treatment (n=7), and those receiving neither (n=6). (A, B) data analyzed by one way ANOVA.

Section A.5 – Summary

Even with increased vaccination rates, COVID-19 remains a highly transmissible disease that could prove deadly to immunosuppressed persons such as those with cancer. In addition, many anti-cancer treatments alter the immune response. Therefore, evaluating how cancer treatment could affect COVID-19 disease severity in patients with cancer is relevant.

In general, we observed higher inflammatory plasma cytokines in patients with COVID-19 disease (**Fig A.2**). IL-2, IL-10 and IL-15 were significantly higher in COVID-19+ cancer patients, and anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-4 was significantly reduced. However, other cytokines commonly associated with cytokine storm (IL-6, IL-17, IFN-□) were not higher in patients with cancer and COVID-19 (**Fig. A.2**), suggesting that although cancer patients may have worse outcomes in general with COVID-19, they do not seem to be at particular risk for cytokine storm compared to patients without cancer.

We also investigated if inflammation and subsequent cytokine release can be exacerbated by the common immune checkpoint inhibitor (ICI), pembrolizumab. Pembrolizumab, when combined with SARS-CoV-2 spike protein *ex vivo*, did result in enhanced release of IL-2, IL-6, IL-8 and IL-10, major players in cytokine storm, from HNC PBMCs compared to healthy PBMCs [18]. However, pembrolizumab treated PBMCs from patients with COVID-19 disease, with and without cancer, did not result in increased cytokine release (**Fig. A.6**). Although a key mediator in inflammation and cytokine storm, NF $\kappa\beta$, was upregulated upon *ex vivo* treatment with spike protein of HNC PBMCs, and pembrolizumab did not further enhance this effect (**Fig. A.4**). Overall, this compilation of data supports previous clinical reports that cancer patients with COVID-19 are not at increased risk of cytokine storm and enhanced inflammation upon treatment with ICls [26,27].

Cancer patients have been reported to have lower levels of circulating NK cells, which correlates with a poor prognosis [28]. Interestingly, COVID-19 patients had lower levels of NK

cells in general, but those with mixed cohorts of cancer and COVID-19, had a higher proportion of CD56^{bright} CD16- cytokine producing NK cells than COVID-19 only patients (**Fig A.5**). In addition, those with COVID-19 that succumbed to the disease had the highest levels of cytokine producing NK cells (**Fig A.5**). Importantly, it was previously reported that the more cytokine producing NK cells observed in patients during early COVID-19 disease, the more likely they were to have severe disease or death.¹⁹ However, our data suggests that although cytokine producing NK cells were higher in patients with cancer and COVID-19 disease, these cells were not necessarily responsible for observed changes in cytokine release. It is plausible they may be influencing other immune cell types, causing enhanced cytokine producing NK cells [20]. However, we did not observe any change in the cytokine producing NK cells in the 24 hours following treatment with pembrolizumab again supporting that pembrolizumab does not contribute to poor prognostic factors of COVID-19 disease.

Our study does have limitations. While the spike protein model we used is a safe and easily utilized model for COVID-19, it cannot completely mimic a systemic SARS-CoV-2 infection. Our *ex vivo* model may not be representative of all patients with cancer. For example, COVID-19 disease is often more severe in lung and breast cancers than HNC, which was our predominant *ex vivo* model [30-32]. Due to small numbers of available patient samples, we could not control for several demographic factors including potential previous therapy which likely resulted in variability. Due to collection limitations, some samples were collected across different cohorts that could add to pre-analytical changes caused by differences in PBMC processing and collections at various points in COVID-19 disease progression. However, despite these limitations, pembrolizumab consistently did not worsen correlates of cytokine storm and, therefore, worse COVID-19 outcomes are not expected in cancer patients treated with ICIs, consistent with current available clinical information.

Section A.5 – Addendum References

- 1. John Hopkins University Center for Systems Science and Engineering COVID-19 Data, <u>https://systems.jhu.edu/research/public-health/ncov/</u>
- Hu, B., Guo, H., Zhou, P. *et al.* Characteristics of SARS-CoV-2 and COVID- 19. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 19, 141–154 (2021). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-020-00459-7</u>
- Dai M, Liu D, Liu M. Patients with cancer appear more vulnerable to SARS-CoV-2: a multicenter study during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Cancer Discov.* 2020 doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-20-0422. published online April 28.
- Casmir Turnquist, Bríd M. Ryan, Izumi Horikawa, Brent T. Harris, Curtis C. Harris, Cytokine Storms in Cancer and COVID-19, Cancer Cell, Volume 38, Issue 5, 2020, Pages 598-601, ISSN 1535-6108, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccell.2020.09.019</u>. (<u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1535610820304931</u>)
- Hojyo, S., Uchida, M., Tanaka, K. *et al.* How COVID-19 induces cytokine storm with high mortality. *Inflamm Regener* 40, 37 (2020). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s41232-020-00146-3</u>
- Ceschi, A., Noseda, R., Palin, K., & Verhamme, K. (2020). Immune Checkpoint Inhibitor-Related Cytokine Release Syndrome: Analysis of WHO Global Pharmacovigilance Database. *Frontiers in Pharmacology*, *11*. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2020.00557</u>
- Kircheis, R., Haasbach, E., Lueftenegger, D., Heyken, W. T., Ocker, M., & Planz,O. (2020). NF-κB Pathway as a Potential Target for Treatment of Critical Stage COVID-19 Patients. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *11*, 3446 <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.598444</u>
- Dosch, S. F., Mahajan, S. D., & Collins, A. R. (2009). SARS coronavirus spike protein-induced innate immune response occurs via activation of the NF-κB pathway in human monocyte macrophages in vitro. *Virus Research*, 142(1– 2),19–27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2009.01.005</u>
- Addeo, A., Obeid, M., & Friedlaender, A. (2020). COVID-19 and lung cancer: Risks, mechanisms and treatment interactions. In *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer* (Vol. 8, Issue 1, p. 892). BMJ Publishing Group. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/jitc-2020-000892</u>
- 10. Kuderer NM, Choueiri TK, Shah DP, Shyr Y, Rubinstein SM, Rivera DR, Shete S, Hsu CY, Desai A, de Lima Lopes G Jr, Grivas P, Painter CA, Peters S,Thompson MA, Bakouny Z, Batist G, Bekaii-Saab T, Bilen MA, Bouganim N, Larroya MB, Castellano D, Del Prete SA, Doroshow DB, Egan PC, Elkrief A, Farmakiotis D, Flora D, Galsky MD, Glover MJ, Griffiths EA, Gulati AP, Gupta S, Hafez N, Halfdanarson TR, Hawley JE, Hsu E, Kasi A, Khaki AR, Lemmon CA, Lewis C, Logan B, Masters T, McKa 409 y RR, Mesa RA, Morgans AK, Mulcahy MF, Panagiotou OA, Peddi P, Pennell NA, Reynolds K, Rosen LR, Rosovsky R, Salazar M, Schmidt A, Shah SA, Shaya JA, Steinharter J, Stockerl-Goldstein KE, Subbiah S, Vinh DC, Wehbe FH, Weissmann LB, Wu JT, Wulff-Burchfield E, Xie Z, Yeh A, Yu PP, Zhou AY, Zubiri L, Mishra S, Lyman GH, Rini BI, Warner

JL;COVID-19 and Cancer Consortium. Clinical impact of COVID-19 on patients with cancer (CCC19): a cohort study. Lancet. 2020 Jun 20;395(10241):1907-1918. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31187-9. Epub 2020 May 28. Erratum in: Lancet. 2020 Sep 12;396(10253):758. PMID: 32473681; PMCID: PMC7255743.

- Au L, Boos LA, Swerdlow A, Byrne F, Shepherd STC, Fendler A, Turajlic S; CAPTURE investigators. Cancer, COVID-19, and Antiviral Immunity: The CAPTURE Study. Cell. 2020 Oct 1;183(1):4-10. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.09.005. Epub 2020 Sep 3. PMID: 32979319; PMCID: PMC7470737.
- Zhang L, Zhu F, Xie L, Wang C, Wang J, Chen R, Jia P, Guan HQ, Peng L, Chen Y, Peng P, Zhang P, Chu Q, Shen Q, Wang Y, Xu SY, Zhao JP, Zhou M. Clinical characteristics of COVID-19-infected cancer patients: a retrospective case study in three hospitals within Wuhan, China. Ann Oncol. 2020 Jul;31(7):894-901. doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2020.03.296. Epub 2020 Mar 26. PMID: 32224151; PMCID: PMC7270947.
- 13. Lee LY, Cazier JB, Angelis V, Arnold R, Bisht V, Campton NA, Chackathayil J, Cheng VW, Curley HM, Fittall MW, Freeman-Mills L, Gennatas S, Goel A, Hartley S, Hughes DJ, Kerr D, Lee AJ, Lee RJ, McGrath SE, Middleton CP, Murugaesu N, Newsom-Davis T, Okines AF, Olsson-Brown AC, Palles C, Pan Y, Pettengell R, Powles T, Protheroe EA, Purshouse K, Sharma-Oates A, Sivakumar S, Smith AJ, Starkey T, Turnbull CD, Várnai C, Yousaf N; UK Coronavirus Monitoring Project Team, Kerr R, Middleton G. COVID-19 mortality in patients with cancer on chemotherapy or other anticancer treatments: a prospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020 Jun 20;395(10241):1919-1926. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31173-9. Epub 2020 May 28. Erratum in: Lancet. 2020 Aug 22;396(10250):534. PMID: 32473682; PMCID: PMC7255715.
- 14. Garassino MC, Whisenant JG, Huang LC, Trama A, Torri V, Agustoni F, BaenaJ, Banna G, Berardi R, Bettini AC, Bria E, Brighenti M, Cadranel J, De Toma A, Chini C, Cortellini A, Felip E, Finocchiaro G, Garrido P, Genova C, Giusti R, Gregorc V, Grossi F, Grosso F, Intagliata S, La Verde N, Liu SV, Mazieres J, Mercadante E, Michielin O, Minuti G, Moro-Sibilot D, Pasello G, Passaro A, Scotti V, Solli P, Stroppa E, Tiseo M, Viscardi G, Voltolini L, Wu YL, Zai S, Pancaldi V, Dingemans AM, Van Meerbeeck J, Barlesi F, Wakelee H, Peters S, Horn L; TERAVOLT investigators. COVID-19 in patients with thoracic malignancies (TERAVOLT): first results of an international, registry-based, cohort study. Lancet Oncol. 2020 Jul;21(7):914-922. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30314-4. Epub 2020 Jun 12. PMID: 32539942; PMCID: PMC7292610.
- Hattori, Y., Suzuki, K., Hattori, S., & Kasai, K. (2006). Metformin inhibits cytokine induced nuclear factor κB activation via AMP-activated protein kinase activation in vascular endothelial cells. *Hypertension*, 47(6), 1183–1188. <u>https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000221429.94591.72</u>
- Antonangeli, F., Natalini, A., Garassino, M. C., Sica, A., Santoni, A., & Di Rosa, F. (2020). Regulation of PD-L1 Expression by NF-кВ in Cancer. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *11*, 584626. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2020.584626</u>
- Setrerrahmane, S., & Xu, H. (2017). Tumor-related interleukins: old validated targets for new anti-cancer drug development. *Molecular Cancer 2017 16:1*, 16(1), 1–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/S12943-017-0721-9</u>

- Chonov, D. C., Ignatova, M. M. K., Ananiev, J. R., & Gulubova, M. V. (2019). IL-6 Activities in the Tumour Microenvironment. Part 1. *Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences*, 7(14), 2391. https://doi.org/10.3889/OAMJMS.2019.589
- 19. Choi, P., & Reiser, H. (1998). IL-4: role in disease and regulation of production. *Clinical and Experimental Immunology*, *113*(3), 317. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1365-2249.1998.00690.X</u>
- Wang, J., Yang, X., Li, Y., Huang, J. an, Jiang, J., & Su, N. (2021). Specific cytokines in the inflammatory cytokine storm of patients with COVID-19-associated acute respiratory distress syndrome and extrapulmonary multiple organ dysfunction. *Virology Journal*, *18*(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/S12985-021-01588-Y/FIGURES/4</u>
- 21. Khan, S., Shafiei, M. S., Longoria, C., Schoggins, J. W., Savani, R. C., & Zaki, H. (2021). SARS-CoV-2 spike protein induces inflammation via TLR2-dependent activation of the NF-κB pathway. *ELife*, *10*. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.68563</u>
- Su, C. M., Wang, L., & Yoo, D. (2021). Activation of NF-κB and induction of proinflammatory cytokine expressions mediated by ORF7a protein of SARSCoV-2. *Scientific Reports 2021 11:1*, *11*(1), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-92941-2</u>
- Maucourant, C., Filipovic, I., Ponzetta, A., Aleman, S., Cornillet, M., Hertwig, L., Strunz, B., Lentini, A., Reinius, B., Brownlie, D., Cuapio, A., Ask, E. H., Hull, R. M., Haroun-Izquierdo, A., Schaffer, M., Klingström, J., Folkesson, E., Buggert, M., Sandberg, J. K., ... Björkström, N. K. (2020). Natural killer cell immunotypes related to COVID-19 disease severity. *Science Immunology*, *5*(50), 6832. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIIMMUNOL.ABD6832/SUPPL_FILE/ABD6832_TABLE</u> S9.XLSX
- Cao, Y., Wang, X., Jin, T., Tian, Y., Dai, C., Widarma, C., Song, R., & Xu, F. (2020). Immune checkpoint molecules in natural killer cells as potential targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Signal Transduction and* 488 *Targeted Therapy* 2020 *5:1,5*(1), 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-020-00348-8</u>
- 25. Liao Q.J., Ye L.B., Timani K.A., Zeng Y.C., She Y.L., Ye L., Wu Z.H. Activation of NF-κB by the full-length nucleocapsid protein of the SARS coronavirus.
- 26. Attiq A, Yao LJ, Afzal S, Khan MA. The triumvirate of NF-κB, inflammation and cytokine storm in COVID-19. *Int Immunopharmacol*. 2021;101(Pt B):108255. doi:10.1016/j.intimp.2021.108255
- Elkrief, Arielle et al. "Geriatric risk factors for serious COVID-19 outcomes among older adults with cancer: a cohort study from the COVID-19 and Cancer Consortium." *The Lancet. Healthy longevity*, 10.1016/S2666-7568(22)00009-5.14 Feb. 2022, doi:10.1016/S2666-7568(22)00009-5
- Kim JS, Lee JY, Yang JW, et al. Immunopathogenesis and treatment of cytokine storm in COVID-19. *Theranostics*. 2021;11(1):316-329. Published 2021 Jan 1. doi:10.7150/thno.49713
- 29. Charap AJ, Enokida T, Brody R, *et al.* Landscape of natural killer cell activity in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer* 2020;**8**:e001523. doi: 10.1136/jitc-2020-001523

- Derosa, L., Melenotte, C., Griscelli, F., Gachot, B., Marabelle, A., Kroemer, G., & Zitvogel, L. (2020). The immuno-oncological challenge of COVID-19. *Nature Cancer 2020 1:10*, 1(10), 946–964. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s43018-020-00122-3</u>
- Vivarelli, S., Falzone, L., Torino, F., Scandurra, G., Russo, G., Bordonaro, R., Pappalardo, F., Spandidos, D. A., Raciti, G., & Libra, M. (2021). Immune510 checkpoint inhibitors from cancer to COVID-19: A promising avenue for the treatment of patients with COVID-19 (Review). *International Journal of Oncology*, 58(2), 145–157. <u>https://doi.org/10.3892/IJO.2020.5159/HTML</u>
- Yang, L., Chai, P., Yu, J., & Fan, X. (2021). Effects of cancer on patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis of 63,019 participants. *Cancer Biology & Medicine*, *18*(1), 298. <u>https://doi.org/10.20892/J.ISSN.2095-</u> <u>3941.2020.0559</u>
- Sharafeldin, N., Bates, B., Song, Q., Madhira, V., Yan, Y., Dong, S., Lee, E., Kuhrt, N., Shao, Y. R., Liu, F., Bergquist, T., Guinney, J., Su, J., & Topaloglu, U. (2021). Outcomes of COVID-19 in Patients With Cancer: Report From the National COVID Cohort Collaborative (N3C). *Journal of Clinical Oncology : Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 39(20), 2232–2246. <u>https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.21.01074</u>
- Zong, Z., Wei, Y., Ren, J., Zhang, L., & Zhou, F. (2021). The intersection of COVID-19 and cancer: signaling pathways and treatment implications. *Molecular Cancer* 2021 20:1, 20(1), 1–19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/S12943-021-01363-1</u>
- Chavez-Macgregor, M., Lei, X., Zhao, H., Scheet, P., & Giordano, S. H. (2022). Evaluation of COVID-19 Mortality and Adverse Outcomes in US Patients With or Without Cancer. 528 JAMA Oncology, 8(1), 69–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMAONCOL.2021.5148</u>
- Bertuzzi, A. F., Ciccarelli, M., Marrari, A., Gennaro, N., Dipasquale, A., Giordano, L., Cariboni, U., Quagliuolo, V. L., Alloisio, M., & Santoro, A. (2021). Impact of active cancer on COVID-19 survival: a matched-analysis on 557 consecutive patients at an Academic Hospital in Lombardy, Italy. *British Journal of Cancer* 2021 125:3, 125(3), 358–365. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41416-021-01396-9</u>
- Addeo, A., & Friedlaender, A. (2020). Cancer and COVID-19: Unmasking their ties. Cancer Treatment Reviews, 88. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CTRV.2020.102041</u>

Appendix

Pt. No	Sex	Age	Race	TNM	Stage	Site	Outcome	Outcome-2	
1	М	53	Caucasian	T3N1M0	- 111	Larynx	Alive	No progression	
3	М	46	Caucasian	T1N2bM0	IVA	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
5	М	47	Caucasian	T1N2bM0	IVA	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
7	М	62	Caucasian	TN2bM0	IVA	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
8	М	61	Caucasian	T2N2cM0	IVA	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
10	М	65	Caucasian	T4aN2M0	IVA	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
12	М	55	Caucasian	T1N2bM0	IVA	Larynx	Alive	Progressed	
13	М	59	AF	T4aN0M0	IVA	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
15	F	47	AF	T2N2cM0	IVA	Larynx	Alive	No progression	
16	F	34	Caucasian	T2N2bM0	IVA	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
17	М	64	Caucasian	T3N3M0	IVB	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
18	М	54	Caucasian	T4aN2bM0	IVA	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
20	М	58	Caucasian	T4aN3M0	IVB	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	
21	М	57	Caucasian	T4aN2cM0	IVA	Oropharynx	Alive	No progression	

Appendix Table 1: Demographics for clinical trial NCT02325401

Appendix Table 2: Demographic information for clinical trial NCT02083692

Pt. No	Sex	Age	TNM	Stage	Site	HPV Status
33	Male	49	T3N2aM0	П	Oropharynx	Positive
34	Male	61	T3N2bM0	III	Oropharynx	Positve
36	Male	54	T4aN0M0	Π	Larnyx	Not Assesed
39	Male	59	T1N1M0	Π	Oral Cavity	Not Assesed
40	Male	52	T1N0M0	П	Larnyx	Not Assesed
45	Female	66	T4aN2bM0	П	Oral Cavity	Not Assesed
46	Male	59	T1N3M0		Oropharynx	Not Assesed
48	Female	60	T1N0M0	II	Larnyx	Not Assesed
50	Male	60	T2N2bM0	II	Oral Cavity	Not Assesed



Appendix Figure 1: Vector map for pSTAT3 knockout

Appendix Table 3: List of non-adjusted p-value genes from RNA-seq

geneid	symbol	name	baseMean	baseMeanC	baseMeanM	foldChange	log2FoldChange	pval	padj
2919	CXCL1	C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 1	131.85	255.32	8.38	0.02	-5.40	1.12E-08	0.00017
10628	TXNIP	thioredoxin interacting protein		4333.93	2186.99	0.50	-1.00	2.89E-06	0.02202
1890	TYMP	thymidine phosphorylase		10723.30	5726.29	0.54	-0.88	2.54E-05	0.11552
6369	CCL24	C-C motif chemokine ligand 24		1238.87	189.88	0.15	-2.69	3.04E-05	0.11552
94240	EPSTI1	epithelial stromal interaction 1	1842.49	2401.38	1283.60	0.54	-0.88	5.88E-05	0.13964
83463	MXD3	MAX dimerization protein 3	353.73	178.22	529.25	2.94	1.55	6.21E-05	0.13964
1.01E+08	SMG1P7	SMG1 pseudogene 7	373.92	218.06	529.79	2.41	1.27	8.26E-05	0.13964
4496	MT1H	metallothionein 1H	56.95	6.82	107.08	15.04	3.91	8.57E-05	0.13964
1286	COL4A4	collagen type IV alpha 4 chain		7.18	90.63	12.74	3.67	9.78E-05	0.13964
4495	MT1G	metallothionein 1G	156.19	49.69	262.69	5.40	2.43	9.93E-05	0.13964
79622	SNRNP25	small nuclear ribonucleoprotein U11/U12 subunit 25	634.78	860.96	408.59	0.47	-1.09	1.01E-04	0.13964
3437	IFIT3	interferon induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats 3	1662.25	2175.73	1148.77	0.52	-0.93	1.16E-04	0.14709
27074	LAMP3	lysosomal associated membrane protein 3	1250.60	1613.17	888.03	0.55	-0.87	1.46E-04	0.16678
5265	SERPINA1	serpin family A member 1	1043.03	289.14	1796.93	5.97	2.58	1.53E-04	0.16678
55008	HERC6	HECT and RLD domain containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase family member 6	1361.99	1723.46	1000.51	0.58	-0.79	1.93E-04	0.19626
128506	OCSTAMP	osteoclast stimulatory transmembrane protein	58.97	108.60	9.34	0.09	-3.49	2.40E-04	0.22385
900	CCNG1	cyclin G1	2235.80	1613.72	2857.89	1.76	0.82	2.75E-04	0.22385
9975	NR1D2	nuclear receptor subfamily 1 group D member 2	1350.49	991.36	1709.62	1.72	0.79	2.77E-04	0.22385
6556	SLC11A1	solute carrier family 11 member 1	111.04	178.90	43.17	0.17	-2.54	2.79E-04	0.22385
7140	TNNT3	troponin T3, fast skeletal type	115.16	29.51	200.80	6.67	2.74	2.99E-04	0.22756
440836	ODF3B	outer dense fiber of sperm tails 3B	462.34	639.18	285.49	0.43	-1.21	3.42E-04	0.23224
10347	ABCA7	ATP binding cassette subfamily A member 7	4332.92	2911.93	5753.92	1.97	0.97	3.48E-04	0.23224
4599	MX1	MX dynamin like GTPase 1	2605.66	3332.77	1878.54	0.56	-0.82	3.75E-04	0.23224
130557	ZNF513	zinc finger protein 513	541.12	722.19	360.04	0.49	-1.02	3.80E-04	0.23224
2537	IFI6	interferon alpha inducible protein 6	1914.07	2386.14	1441.99	0.60	-0.73	3.81E-04	0.23224
51175	TUBE1	tubulin epsilon 1	738.96	515.55	962.37	1.88	0.91	4.34E-04	0.25392
283870	BRICD5	BRICHOS domain containing 5	183.21	96.89	269.53	2.79	1.48	5.07E-04	0.28611
4940	OAS3	2'-5'-oligoadenylate synthetase 3	3545.29	4388.22	2702.36	0.61	-0.71	5.40E-04	0.29384
9636	ISG15	ISG15 ubiquitin like modifier	1366.40	1684.07	1048.74	0.62	-0.69	6.13E-04	0.32161
64333	ARHGAP9	Rho GTPase activating protein 9	3620.14	2607.96	4632.33	1.77	0.82	6.40E-04	0.32502
91543	RSAD2	radical S-adenosyl methionine domain containing 2	1116.73	1459.76	773.69	0.54	-0.90	6.79E-04	0.33327
3669	ISG20	interferon stimulated exonuclease gene 20	2598.21	3213.78	1982.64	0.61	-0.72	7.33E-04	0.33921
684	BST2	bone marrow stromal cell antigen 2	3450.95	4238.39	2663.51	0.62	-0.68	7.35E-04	0.33921
129607	СМРК2	cytidine/uridine monophosphate kinase 2	640.05	830.38	449.72	0.52	-0.94	8.57E-04	0.37773
23129	PLXND1	plexin D1	1405.51	974.35	1836.67	1.87	0.91	8.68E-04	0.37773



Appendix Figure 2: Inhibitor confirmation western blot analysis. Head and neck squamous cell peripheral blood mononuclear cells were treated with 10uM of indicated drug for 24 hours and subjected to western blot.



Appendix Figure 3: <u>Head and neck squamous cell carcinoma mouse model has elevated</u> <u>CXCL1</u>. Tail vein blood from normal B6/C57 mice and B6/C57 mice with MOC-1 tumors in either the flank or cheek was collected in EDTA tubes. Samples were spun for plasma and analyzed by mouse CXCL1 ELISA. Analyzed by student's t-test. n = 3 per group.



Appendix Figure 4: <u>CXCR2 knockdown confirmation western blot analysis.</u> Head and neck squamous cell peripheral blood mononuclear cells were treated with 10uM of indicated drug for 24 hours and subjected to western blot.



Appendix Figure 5: <u>CXCR2 knockdown NK cells have higher cytotoxic activity.</u> Primary NK cells from healthy patients were isolated from peripheral blood and expanded in 1000U/mL IL-2 for 10 days. Cells were counted and nucleofected with CRISPR/Cas9 system for CXCR2 knockdown or scrambled guide. Cells were placed back in 1000U/mL IL-2 without 50ng CXCL1 for 5 days. Cells were collected, washed, and analyzed by NKCA. Data analyzed by one way ANOVA. n = 4.